

Biological Assessment

ŧ

Page intentionally left blank.

April 5, 2021

Mr. Greg Balogh National Marine Fisheries Service PO Box 21668 Juneau, AK 99802

Subject:Sitka SPB – Request for Formal Consultation under Section 7 of ESARequest for Concurrence with FAA Determinations

Dear Mr. Balogh:

Thank you for the discussion yesterday regarding the Federal Aviation Administration's (FAA's) Sitka Seaplane Base (SPB) Environmental Assessment (EA) and the Endangered Species Act (ESA) Section 7 Consultation process. As you know, the EA and the Biological Assessment (BA) in Appendix C evaluate the potential impacts of the proposed action, construction and operation of a seaplane base in Sitka Channel in Sitka, Alaska. Per the discussion yesterday, we are requesting your concurrence with our assessment and determination of potential effects of the proposed action on the federally-listed endangered species.

The proposed Sitka SPB would be constructed on Japonski Island and would include fill in marine waters, and installation of pile-supported infrastructure and floating ramps. The facilities and construction methods are discussed in more detail in the Sitka SPB EA and the BA included in Appendix C. The project area is defined as the areas that would be directly or indirectly affected by the proposed action, as shown in Figure 6 in the attached Revised BA.

These five species of marine mammals could be found within the project area:

- Mexico Distinct population segment (DPS) humpback whale
- Western DPS Steller sea lion
- Fin whale
- North Pacific right whale
- Sperm whale

The project area is not within any designated critical habitat but is within proposed critical habitat for Mexico DPS humpback whales.

The FAA has determined that the project warrants a May Affect, Not Likely to Adversely Affect determination for fin whales, North Pacific right whales, and sperm whales.



- Fin whales are rare in southeast Alaska inside waters and have not been observed in marine mammal survey conducted around Sitka Channel. They would not be expected in the shallow and narrow end of Sitka Channel near the proposed project. Further, if fin whales were to be sighted near the action area, pile driving activities would be halted.
- North Pacific right whales have not been observed in marine mammal surveys conducted around Sitka Channel. Further, if North Pacific right whales were to be sighted near the action area, pile driving activities would be halted.
- Sperm whales have not been observed in marine mammal surveys conducted around Sitka Channel. Further, if sperm whales were to be sighted near the action area, pile driving activities would be halted.

The FAA has determined that the project is Likely to Adversely Affect humpback whales and Steller sea lions.

- Noise associated with the project may expose humpback whales to level B harassment and Steller sea lions to level A and B harassment under the Marine Mammal Protection Act.
- These species may experience a temporary loss of suitable habitat if noise displaces them from the area.
- The displacement would not be permanent or result in long-term effects to the local population.
- Masking or acoustic effects on humpback whales are anticipated to be very small given the estimate of humpback whales occurring in the action area during project activities.
- There are no documented Steller sea lion haulouts in the action area and upland rock blasting will not exceed the Steller sea lion in-air noise threshold.
- The project has incorporated mitigation measures to minimize impacts to marine mammals from construction noise and to monitor for marine mammals during pile driving activities.
- The project would obtain an Incidental Harassment Authorization from NMFS Office of Protected Resources prior to beginning any in-water construction activities (e.t. pile driving and marine fill) in Sitka Channel.

Please see the BA attached for more detail on the construction process, the mitigation measures proposed, and the impacts on protected marine mammals.

FAA has delegated consultation to Solstice on behalf of the City and Borough of Sitka. Based on that delegation and our analysis documented in the BA, the FAA finds that the project is not likely to result in jeopardy to an endangered or threatened species or result in destruction or adverse modification of its designated critical habitat.



We seek your concurrence on our determinations. Thank you for your assistance in this matter. Please provide your response to Mr. Jack Gilbertsen, FAA Lead Environmental Protection Specialist, at <u>jack.gilbertsen@faa.gov</u>.

Sincerely,

Kom Print

Robin Reich, President Environmental Planner

Attachment(s): Revised Biological Assessment; FAA Delegation Letter (11/2/20)

c: Jack Gilbertsen, FAA; Kelli Cropper, CBS; Maryellen Tuttle, DOWL



Page intentionally left blank.

November 02, 2020

Mr. Jon Kurland Director NOAA Fisheries' National Marine Fisheries Service PO Box 21668 Juneau, Alaska 99802

Re: Delegation of authority to City and Borough of Sitka, Alaska, DOWL, and Solstice Alaska Consulting to consult with the National Marine Fisheries Service on behalf of the U.S. Federal Aviation Administration

Dear Mr. Kurland:

The Federal Aviation Administration (FAA) is working with the City and Borough of Sitka (CBS), Alaska to fund the design, permitting, and construction of a new Sitka Seaplane Base (SPB). The FAA has currently authorized CBS to do concept planning and the environmental review for the project. A complete Environmental Assessment and Finding of No Significant Impact is required to issue additional grants for design, property acquisition, and construction.

The CBS has contracted with DOWL to provide concept planning and environmental review (Environmental Assessment) for the project. DOWL has subcontracted with Solstice Alaska Consulting to address biological resources and particularly marine biology issues under the Endangered Species Act and the Marine Mammal Protection Act.

The new SPB is located on the north shore of Japonski Island in Sitka Channel and will replace the existing facility on the eastern side of the channel (Figure 1). Construction of the new SPB includes the installation of piles to support a based seaplane dock, floating transient dock, landing gangway, wave attenuators, and a shore-access transfer span and trestle, discharge of fill to develop base uplands, upland blasting along the access road, and grading and casting for a seaplane haul-out ramp (Figure 2). The new SPB will address existing capacity, safety, and condition deficiencies for critical seaplane operations, and allow seaplanes to more safely transit Sitka Channel.

Detailed construction activities include the following:

- Install 30 temporary 18-inch-diameter steel piles as templates to guide proper installation of permanent piles (these temporary piles will be removed prior to project completion).
- Install 32 permanent 24-inch-diameter piles and 36 permanent 16-inch-diameter piles to support the base float, transient float, vehicle turnaround float, drive-down gangway, landing dock, and trestle.
- Construct and install 350-foot by 46-foot ramp float, 220-foot by 30-foot transient float, 120-foot by 12-foot drive-down gangway, 30-foot by 20-foot turnaround float, 120-foot by 46-foot landing dock, and 240-foot by 16-foot trestle (Table 2 and Figure 3)

- Install 50 permanent 24-inch-diameter piles to support two 20-foot by 600-foot wave attenuators (25 piles per wave attenuator).
- Install other SPB float components such as bull rail, floating fenders, mooring cleats, electricity connections, waterlines, lighting, passenger walkway, handrail, and mast lights. Additional upland features include a haul-out ramp, aviation fueling infrastructure, fuel storage, vehicle driveway, curb, gravel parking, security fencing, landscape buffer, and a covered shelter (Note: all upland components will be installed out of the water).
- Grade and install precast concrete panels for the seaplane haul-out ramp.
- Discharge fill to create 1.47 acres of base uplands.
- Conduct one month of blasting and rock excavation located at the end of the Seward Avenue in the southwest corner of the project uplands, approximately 150 to 200 feet from the high tide line.

FAA has determined that consultation under Section 7 of the Endangered Species Act is required for species under your jurisdiction. The FAA hereby designates Ms. Kelli Cropper of CBS, Ms. Maryellen Tuttell of DOWL, and Ms. Robin Reich of Solstice Alaska Consulting as FAA's non-federal representatives for the purpose of consulting with the National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) under 50 CRF §Part 402.08.

If there are any questions regarding this delegation, please contact FAA Alaskan Region's Lead Environmental Protection Specialist, Mr. Jack Gilbertsen at (907) 271-5453 or jack.gilbertsen@faa.gov.

Sincerely,

FAA Alaskan Region, Lead Environmental Protection Specialist, AAL-611

Cc: Kelli Cropper, City and Borough of Sitka Maryellen Tuttell, DOWL Robin Reich, Solstice Alaska Consulting Endangered Species Act Section 7 Biological Assessment for Listed Species under the Jurisdiction of the National Marine Fisheries Service

City and Borough of Sitka

Sitka Seaplane Base

Sitka Channel, Sitka, Alaska

April 2021

Prepared for: City and Borough of Sitka 6100 Lincoln St. Sitka, AK 99835

Prepared by:



2607 Fairbanks Street, Suite B Anchorage, Alaska 99503

Submitted to: National Marine Fisheries Service

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| 1 In | roduction | 1 | | | | |
|------|--|----|--|--|--|--|
| 2 Pr | oject Purpose | 2 | | | | |
| 3 Pr | oposed Action | 4 | | | | |
| 3.1 | Construction Details | 4 | | | | |
| 3.2 | Project Location | 9 | | | | |
| 3. | Pile Installation Equipment | 11 | | | | |
| 3. | Pile Installation Methods | 11 | | | | |
| 3. | 2.3 Construction Vessels | 12 | | | | |
| 3. | 2.4 Construction Sequence | 12 | | | | |
| 3. | 2.5 Other In-water Construction and Heavy Machinery Activities | 13 | | | | |
| 3. | 2.6 Project Operation Activities | 13 | | | | |
| 3.3 | Definition of Action Area | 14 | | | | |
| 3. | Acoustic Thresholds and Ensonified Area | 16 | | | | |
| 3. | B.2 Level A Harassment | 16 | | | | |
| 3. | B.3 Level B Harassment | 17 | | | | |
| 3. | 8.4 Calculated Distances to Level A and Level B Thresholds | 17 | | | | |
| 3.4 | Proposed Mitigation Measures | 19 | | | | |
| 3. | I.1 General Construction Mitigation Measures | 19 | | | | |
| 3. | I.2 Pile Driving and Removal Mitigation Measures | 20 | | | | |
| 3. | I.3 Marine Mammal Monitoring and Mitigation Measures | 20 | | | | |
| 3.5 | Mitigation Measures Designed to Reduce Impacts to Listed Species | 21 | | | | |
| 3. | 5.1 Level A Shutdown Zones | 22 | | | | |
| 3. | 5.2 Level B Monitoring Zones | 25 | | | | |
| 4 D | scription of The Species And Their Habitat | 27 | | | | |
| 4.1 | Species the Project is Not Likely to Adversely Affect | 27 | | | | |
| 4. | .1 Fin Whale | 27 | | | | |
| 4. | 2 North Pacific Right Whale | 28 | | | | |
| 4. | 3 Sperm Whale | 29 | | | | |
| 4.2 | Species The Project Is Likely To Adversely Affect | 30 | | | | |
| 4. | 2.1 Mexico DPS Humpback Whale | 31 | | | | |
| 4. | 2.2 WDPS Steller Sea Lion | 35 | | | | |
| 5 Er | vironmental Baseline | 41 | | | | |
| 5.1 | Physical Environment | 41 | | | | |
| 5.2 | Fish And Essential Fish Habitat | 42 | | | | |
| 5.3 | Marine Vessel Activity | 42 | | | | |
| 5.4 | Fishery Interactions Including Entanglements | 43 | | | | |
| 5.5 | Pollution | 44 | | | | |
| 5.6 | Climate and Ocean Regime Change | 46 | | | | |
| 5.7 | Coastal Zone Development | 47 | | | | |
| 5.8 | In-Water Noise | 47 | | | | |
| 6 Ef | 5 Effects Of The Action | | | | | |
| 6.1 | Direct Effects | 47 | | | | |
| 6. | Acoustic Disturbance/Noise from Pile Extraction and Installation | 47 | | | | |

| 6 | .1.2 | Turbidity/Sedimentation | 50 |
|-----|--------|------------------------------|----|
| 6 | .1.3 | Marine Vessel Activity | 50 |
| 6 | .1.4 | Pollution | 51 |
| 6 | .1.5 | Habitat Loss or Modification | 52 |
| 6.2 | Ind | irect Effects | 52 |
| 6 | .2.1 | Effects of Noise on Habitat | 52 |
| 6.3 | Cur | nulative Effects | 52 |
| 7 D | eterm | ination of Effect | 53 |
| 8 R | eferen | Ices | 54 |

TABLES

| Table 1. Determination of Effects on ESA-Protected Species under NMFS Jurisdiction | 2 |
|---|----|
| Table 2. New Sitka SPB Construction Components | 5 |
| Table 3. New Sitka SPB Pile Installation and Removal Summary | 6 |
| Table 4. Construction Equipment | 11 |
| Table 5. Thresholds Identifying the Onset of PTS | 16 |
| Table 6. Distances to NMFS Level A and B Acoustic Thresholds | 18 |
| Table 7. Pile Driving Shutdown Zones Designed to Avoid Level A Take | 23 |
| Table 8. Level B Monitoring Zones | 25 |
| Table 9. Probability of Encountering Humpback Whales from each DPS in the North Pacific | |
| Ocean in Various Feeding Areas | 33 |
| Table 10. Estimated Species Occurrence in Action Area and Take Calculation | 49 |

FIGURES

| Figure 1. Proposed Action | 7 |
|--|------|
| Figure 2. Side Profile of Proposed Action | 8 |
| Figure 3. New Sitka SPB Location | 9 |
| Figure 4. Location of New Sitka SPB in Sitka Channel | . 10 |
| Figure 5. Steel Pipe Pile Frame | . 12 |
| Figure 6. New Sitka SPB Action Area and Pile Driving Location | . 15 |
| Figure 7. Level A Shutdown Zones | . 24 |
| Figure 8. Level B Monitoring Zones | . 26 |
| Figure 9. Humpback Whale Abundance | . 32 |
| Figure 10. Generalized Ranges of WDPS and EDPS Steller Sea Lions | . 36 |
| Figure 11. Area of Occurrence of WDPS Steller Sea Lions North and South of Summer Strait | . 37 |
| Figure 12. Steller Sea Lion Counts from Land-Based Surveys at Whale Park from September | |
| through May between 1994 and 2000 | . 38 |
| Figure 13. Steller Sea Lion Critical Habitat in Southeast Alaska | . 40 |
| Figure 14. Alaska DEC Contaminated Sites Mapper | . 45 |

APPENDICES

Appendix A. Marine Mammal Monitoring and Mitigation Plan (forthcoming) Appendix B. Threshold Calculation Spreadsheets

ACRONYMS AND ABBREVIATIONS

| 4MP | Marine Mammal Monitoring and Mitigation Plan | | |
|-------|---|--|--|
| μРа | microPascal | | |
| ADEC | Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation | | |
| ADF&G | Alaska Department of Fish and Game | | |
| ANSI | American National Standards Institute | | |
| BA | Biological Assessment | | |
| BMP | Best Management Practice | | |
| CBS | City and Borough of Sitka | | |
| CV | critical value | | |
| dB | decibels | | |
| DPS | distinct population segment | | |
| DTH | down-the-hole | | |
| EDPS | Eastern distinct population segment | | |
| EFH | Essential Fish Habitat | | |
| ESA | Endangered Species Act | | |
| ESCA | Endangered Species Conservation Act | | |
| FAA | Federal Aviation Administration | | |
| GPIP | Gary Paxton Industrial Park | | |
| HDPE | high density polyethylene | | |
| HF | High-Frequency | | |
| Hz | hertz | | |
| IHA | Incidental Harassment Authorization | | |
| IPaC | Information, Planning, and Consultation | | |
| IPCC | Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change | | |
| ITS | Incidental Take Statement | | |
| kHz | kilohertz | | |
| LE | cumulative sound exposure level | | |
| LF | Low-Frequency | | |
| Lpk | peak sound pressure level | | |
| m | meters | | |
| MLLW | mean lower low water | | |
| MMPA | Marine Mammal Protection Act | | |
| NMFS | National Marine Fisheries Service | | |
| NOAA | National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration | | |
| OW | Otariid Pinnipeds | | |

| PBR | potential biological removal |
|------------|---|
| PR1 | Permits and Conservation Division's |
| PSO | Protected Species Observer |
| PTS | permanent threshold shift |
| PW | Phocid Pinnipeds |
| rms | root mean square |
| SEARHC | Southeast Alaska Regional Health Consortium |
| SEL | sound exposure level |
| SolsticeAK | Solstice Alaska Consulting Inc. |
| SPB | Seaplane Base |
| SPL | sound pressure level |
| TS | threshold shift |
| TTS | temporary threshold shift |
| Turnagain | Turnagain Marine Construction |
| UHMW | ultra-molecular weight polyethylene |
| USACE | United States Army Corps of Engineers |
| USCG | United States Coast Guard |
| USFWS | United States Fish and Wildlife Service |
| USGS | United States Geological Survey |
| VHF | Very High-Frequency |
| WDPS | Western distinct population segment |
| Windward | Windward Project Solutions |

1 INTRODUCTION

The City and Borough of Sitka (CBS) is proposing to construct a new seaplane base (SPB) in Sitka Channel on the northern shore of Japonski Island in Sitka, Alaska. The new SPB will replace the existing SPB (Federal Airline Administration [FAA] identifier A29) currently located on the eastern shore of Sitka Channel, near Eliason Harbor and downtown Sitka. The new SPB will address existing capacity, safety, and condition deficiencies for critical seaplane operations, and allow seaplanes to more safely transit Sitka Channel. Construction, which includes the installation of piles to support a floating ramp dock, floating transient dock, landing gangway, wave attenuators, and a shore-access transfer span and trestle, is anticipated to begin in May 2024 and be completed by April 2025.

Currently, the SPB A29 off Katlian Street is at the end of its useful life and has a number of shortcomings, including limited docking capacity. A29 has only eight spaces, four of which cannot be accessed during low tide. The facility also lacks on-site fueling infrastructure, is expensive to maintain, has wildlife conflicts with a nearby seafood processing plant, and requires pilots to navigate a busy channel with ship traffic. The new SPB will improve the safety of seaplane operation in the channel, along with reducing traffic and congestion in Sitka Channel. The proposed SPB will provide, among other improvements, 14 permanent slips, space for 5 transient planes, on-site fuel storage, a drive down ramp, a seaplane haul-out ramp, and upland seaplane and car parking.

This Biological Assessment (BA) for the Sitka Seaplane Base Project is being provided in compliance with Section 7 of the Endangered Species Act (ESA) of 1973. Section 7 establishes procedures designed to ensure continued existence of listed species and minimize the destruction or adverse modification of designated critical habitat for those species regulated under the ESA. Under section 7(a)(2) of the ESA, projects considered a Federal Action are required to consult with National Oceanic and Atmospheric Association (NOAA)'s National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS) on all actions, or proposed actions, authorized, funded, or undertaken by the agency, that may adversely affect listed species.

The NMFS endangered species and critical habitat mapper indicates five species of marine mammals that are listed under the ESA within the project area (NMFS 2020, Table 1). The project area does not fall within any designated critical habitat of an ESA-listed species, but is within proposed critical habitat for Mexico distinct population segment (DPS) humpback whales. A search of the United State Fish and Wildlife Service's (USFWS) Information for Planning and Conservation (IPaC) did not find any ESA-listed marine mammals within the project area under their jurisdiction (USFWS 2019).

| Species | ESA Listing Status | Species Determination | Critical Habitat | Critical Habitat Determination |
|---|-----------------------|--------------------------------------|---------------------|-----------------------------------|
| Mexico DPS Humpback Whale (<i>Megaptera novaeangliae</i>) | Threatened | Likely to Adversely Affect | Under Review | |
| Western DPS (WDPS) Steller Sea Lion (<i>Eumetopias jubatus</i>) | Endangered | Likely to Adversely Affect | Designated | No Effect |
| Fin Whale (Balaenoptera physalus) | Endangered | Not Likely to Adversely Affect | Not Designated | |
| North Pacific Right Whale (<i>Eubalaena japonica</i>) | Endangered | Not Likely to Adversely Affect | Designated | No Effect |
| Sperm Whale (Physeter macrocephalus) | Endangered | Not Likely to Adversely Affect | Not Designated | |

Table 1. Determination of Effects on ESA-Protected Species under NMFS Jurisdiction.

The action that is the subject of this BA is FAA funding of construction of the SPB Project in Sitka, Alaska. The consulting agency for this proposal is NMFS's Alaska Region. The action agency is the FAA. FAA has designated CBS, DOWL, and Solstice Alaska Consulting, Inc. (SolsticeAK) as their designated non-federal representatives to assist with these consultations.

2 PROJECT PURPOSE

The purpose of this project is to construct a new SPB on Japonski Island in Sitka Channel and address capacity, safety, operational, and condition deficiencies at the existing Sitka SPB. This project is needed to support critical seaplane operations and transportation in Southeast Alaska, to resolve existing seaplane and boat conflicts, and to replace the existing base which is 65 years old and in poor condition.

The CBS identified the need for a new SPB in 2002, and the planning process progressed as conditions at the facility continued to degrade. In 2002, CBS completed a Sitka Seaplane Base Master Plan to assess the need for a new SPB and layout a proposed facility and location (HDR Alaska, Inc. 2002). In 2012, CBS completed a Siting Analysis to reevaluate SPB sites and confirmed Japonski Island as the recommended location (DOWL KHM 2012). In 2016, CBS conducted another Siting Analysis which confirmed aviation stakeholder interest, resolved FAA funding concerns, and provided an economic impact study (DOWL 2016). The CBS has now received funding for planning and environmental review for the new SPB (CBS 2019).

Sitka's intrastate transportation infrastructure includes the Alaska Marine Highway System, the Sitka Airport, and seaplanes and other charter options (CBS 2020). Sitka functions as a central transit hub for more remote communities in Southeast Alaska, and seaplanes are an essential element of transportation for that system. Some communities in the southern portion of Southeast Alaska are without land runways and only have seaplane bases for aviation infrastructure. Within this subregional network of airports, A29 serves as a hub for access to essential medical services, facilitates a statewide aviation system through Sitka Rocky Gutierrez Airport, and expands retail opportunities for multiple communities (DOWL 2016). Transportation infrastructure is essential for the safety and security of Southeast communities, and deficiencies at the existing SPB are limiting the efficient use of seaplane resources in and around Sitka.

The first SPB in Alaska was established in 1937 on Japonski Island, built by the United States Navy (CBS 2018). With a long history in the region, seaplanes continue to serve Sitka's local economy, particularly the fishery and tourism sectors. As a vibrant community only accessibly by water or air, seaplanes facilitate both local and regional transportation. Forecasted growth of seaplane traffic in Sitka expects continued seaplane use and associated facility demands (DOWL 2016). Currently, there is competition for slip access between commercial and non-commercial operators. Given current capacity limitations, commercial operators require approval from the Harbormaster to pick up passengers at A29 (DOWL 2016). Both commercial and non-commercial seaplanes are in need of expanded base access.

Demand for the existing SPB has exceeded capacity, and the facility has had, at times, a multiyear waitlist with up to seven additional pilots seeking slip access (DOWL 2016). Given the deteriorated condition of the docks, only some slips are desirable to lease. Pilots have been concerned for multiple years over the condition of the dock, and some minimize use of the facility over concerns that unstable structures could damage aircraft. There is only one slip accessible to transient pilots, all other slips are leased full time. Boats are occasionally tied to the dock and float ramp, impeding seaplane access (AirNav 2020).

In addition to base demand exceeding current capacity, there are safety concerns from boat traffic surrounding A29 and an inadequate taxi lane for landing and takeoff, further hindering operation. The site's proximity to Sitka Sound Seafoods fish processing plant has created additional conflicts with foraging shorebirds in the SPB's vicinity. The failing docks also pose a safety hazard to pilots and passengers during loading and unloading, and walking to shore.

A29 lacks essential SPB infrastructure and is without necessary fueling facilities, requiring seaplane operators to carry and dispense fuel from their own containers. A29 is inadequate for commercial traffic because it has insufficient vehicle parking, lacks on-site aircraft maintenance, and does not have a drive-down ramp, passenger shelter, or equipment storage (DOWL 2016). The facility is also deteriorating, requiring costly municipal maintenance after pilings collapsed and temporarily closed the SPB in January 2016 (DOWL 2016).

3 PROPOSED ACTION

3.1 CONSTRUCTION DETAILS

Construction of the proposed project will include the installation of piles to support a based seaplane ramp float, transient seaplane float, drive-down gangway, landing dock, trestle, and wave attenuator(s), along with development of a haul-out ramp and upland facilities (Table 2-3 and Figure 1-2). The project will:

- Install 30 temporary 18-inch-diameter steel piles as templates to guide proper installation of permanent piles (these temporary piles will be removed prior to project completion).
- Install 32 permanent 24-inch-diameter galvanized steel piles and 36 permanent 16-inchdiameter galvanized steel piles to support the ramp float, transient float, vehicle turnaround float, drive-down gangway, landing dock, and trestle.
- Construct and install 350-foot by 46-foot ramp float, 220-foot by 30-foot transient float, 120-foot by 12-foot drive-down gangway, 30-foot by 20-foot turnaround float, 120-foot by 46-foot landing dock, and 240-foot by 16-foot trestle (Table 1-2 and Figure 5-6).
- Install 50 permanent 24-inch-diameter piles to support two 20-foot by 600-foot wave attenuators (25 piles per wave attenuator).
- Install other SPB float components such as bull rail, floating fenders, mooring cleats, electricity connections, waterlines, lighting, passenger walkway, hand rail, and mast lights. Additional upland features include a haul-out ramp, aviation fueling infrastructure, fuel storage, vehicle driveway, curb, gravel parking for seaplanes and vehicles, security fencing, landscape buffer, and a covered shelter (Note: all upland components will be installed out of the water).
- Conduct about two months of rock blasting and excavation of about 22,000 cubic yards of material extending from about 16 feet to 60 vertical feet above mean lower low water (MLLW; 0.00 datum) located at the end of the Seward Avenue in the southwest corner of the project uplands inland of the high tide line.
 - Rock blasting and excavation will extend 200 horizontal feet inland.
 - One blasting event per day on 24 days (not consecutive) at a maximum 90 decibels [dB] per event (Southeast Earth Movers 2020).
- Discharge of 1.7 acres of fill in Section 404 wetlands and waters of the US. The side slopes of fill will have ratio of 2 horizontal to 1 vertical (2H:1V) slopes with heavy open graded armor rock and interstitial spaces.

| Construction Component | Material | Dimensions (feet) | Distance Above Mean High Water (feet) |
|-----------------------------|--|--|---|
| Based Seaplane Float | Treated timber, galvanized steel, coated polystyrene billets and polyethylene floatation tubs | Treated timber, galvanized steel, coated polystyrene billets and polyethylene floatation tubs | |
| Transient Seaplane Float | Treated timber, galvanized steel, coated polystyrene billets and polyethylene floatation tubs | 200 x 30 | 2 |
| Drive-Down Gangway | Marine grade aluminum, fiberglass and polyethylene | 120 x 12 | 2-13 (sloped gangway) |
| Vehicle Turnaround Float | Treated timber, galvanized steel, coated polystyrene billets and polyethylene floatation tubs | 30 x 20 | 2 |
| Landing Dock | Treated timber, galvanized steel, coated polystyrene billets and polyethylene floatation tubs | 120 x 46 | 2 |
| Trestle | Galvanized steel and treated timber | 240 x 16 | 13 |
| Wave Attenuator(s) | Concrete | 2 each @ 20 x 600 | 3 |
| Haul-out Ramp | Concrete | Part of Uplands | N/A |
| Piles | Galvanized Steel | See Table 3 | 15 to top of pile |

Table 2. New Sitka SPB Construction Components

| | Project Component | | | | |
|--|--------------------------------|---------------------------|--------------------------------|--------------------------------|--|
| Description | Temporary Pile Installation | Temporary Pile Removal | Permanent Pile Installation | Permanent Pile Installation | |
| Diameter of Steel Pile (inches) | 18 | 18 | 24 | 16 | |
| # of Piles | 30 | 30 | 82 | 36 | |
| | Vibratory Pile D | riving | | | |
| Total Quantity | 30 | 30 | 82 | 36 | |
| Diameter (inches) | 18 | 18 | 24 | 16 | |
| Max # Piles Vibrated per Day | 4 | 4 | 4 | 4 | |
| Vibratory Time per Pile | 15 min | 15 min | 15 min | 15 min | |
| Vibratory Time per Day | 60 min | 60 min | 60 min | 60 min | |
| Number of Days (46 days) | 8 | 8 | 21 | 9 | |
| Vibratory Time Total (44 hours 30 min) | 7 hours 30 min | 7 hours 30 min | 20 hours 30 min | 9 hours | |
| Down-the | e-Hole Drilling/Soc | keting Pile Drivinរ្ | 3 | | |
| Total Quantity | | | 82 | 36 | |
| Diameter (inches) | | | 24 | 16 | |
| DTH/Socket Hole Diameter | | | 33 | 33 | |
| Max # Piles DTH/Socketed per Day | | | 2 | 2 | |
| DTH/Socketing Time per Pile | | | 60 min | 60 min | |
| Total Time per Pile | | | 5 hours | 5 hours | |
| DTH/Socketing Time per Day | | | 2 hours (max) | 2 hours (max) | |
| Total Time per Day | | | 10 hours (max) | 10 hours (max) | |
| Blows per Pile | | | 54,000 | 54,000 | |
| Number of Days (59 days) | | | 41 | 18 | |
| DTH/Socketing Time Total (590 hours) | | | 410 hours | 180 hours | |
| | Impact Pile Dri | iving | | | |
| Total Quantity | 30 | | 82 | 36 | |
| Diameter (inches) | 18 | | 24 | 16 | |
| Max # Piles Impacted per Day | 2 | | 2 | 2 | |
| Strikes per Pile | 35 | | 35 | 35 | |
| Impact Time per Pile | 5 min | | 5 min | 5 min | |
| Impact Time per Day | 10 min | | 10 min | 10 min | |
| Number of Days (74 days) | 15 | | 41 | 18 | |
| Impact Time Total (12 hours 20 min) | 2 hours 30 min | | 6 hours 50 min | 3 hours | |

| Table 3. | New | Sitka | SPB | Pile | Installation | and | Removal | Summary |
|----------|--------|--------|------|------|--------------|-----|---------|---------|
| Tubic 5. | 140.00 | JILING | 51 0 | i ne | mstunution | unu | nemovui | Junnury |



Figure 1. Proposed Action





3.2 PROJECT LOCATION

The new SPB will be located on the north shore of Japonski Island, along the eastern side of Sitka Channel, approximately 1.5 miles north of downtown Sitka, in Southeast Alaska; Township 55S, Range 63E, Sections 34 and 35, Copper River Meridian; United States Geologic Survey (USGS) Quad Map Sitka A-latitude 57.0575 and longitude -135.7382 (Figure 3-4) (Earthpoint 2020). Sitka Channel is a high traffic passage and the main way to access Sitka by water, a commonly used method of transportation in Southeast Alaska.

The proposed project will be located within the Channel Rock Breakwaters in the Sitka Channel on the northeast side of Japonski Island. The Channel Rock Breakwaters were built perpendicular to the Sitka Channel, a little more than half a mile northwest of Thomsen Harbor, in order to provide protection for the harbor and other facilities and structures located throughout the channel. The distance from Channel Rock Breakwaters to the James O'Connell Bridge is about 6,500 feet (ft), and Sitka Channel is about 150 ft wide and about 22 ft deep at the narrowest (NOAA 2020). The mean tide range is 7.7 ft, the diurnal tide range is 9.94 ft, and the extreme range is 18.98 ft (NOAA 2020a). The Sitka Channel connects to the larger Sitka Sound, an active fishery and transportation corridor.



Figure 3. New Sitka SPB Location



Figure 4. Location of New Sitka SPB in Sitka Channel

The project location will resolve multiple existing obstacles facing seaplane operation in Sitka Channel. The project location on Japonski Island is 3,400 feet from the nearest fish processing plant which will reduce wildlife conflicts with seabirds in the vicinity of fish processing plants (DOWL 2016). The proposed SPB should reduce conflicts with marine vessels during landing and takeoff with a relocated seaplane lane (Figure 4). The relocated seaplane lane moves taxi operations into a wider, less congested section of Sitka Channel.

3.2.1 Pile Installation Equipment

A number of acoustic sources are associated with the dock project including: vibratory pile driving, impact pile driving, and DTH hammering. Each of these elements generates in-water and in-air noise. The equipment listed in Table 4, or similar, is expected to be used. A final determination will be made by the selected contractor.

Three different pieces of pile driving equipment have been proposed for construction of the dock: the diesel impact hammer APE D36-42 for impact operations, the ICE 44B 1800VPM vibratory driver for vibratory, and the Holte 6000 Series for DTH hydro-hammering. Table 4 lists equipment details. Although DTH hydro-hammering has impulsive source components, the high frequency of 900 blows/minute combined with long continuous operation intervals of several minutes make its signature noise more like a non-impulsive source and therefore we treat it as such in this opinion.

| Driving Mechanism | Pile Driver | Properties |
|------------------------|--------------------------|---------------------------------|
| Impact Pile Driving | Diesel APE D36-42 | Max rated energy 89,303 feet- |
| | | pounds |
| | | Speed (blows per minute) 34-53 |
| Vibratory Pile Driving | ICE 44B 1800VPM | 202 tons centrifugal force |
| | | 207 tons driving force |
| DTH Hydro-Hammering | Holte 6000 series Rotary | 84,000 ft/lbs continuous |
| | Top Head | 100,000 ft/lbs intermittent |
| | | 900 blows/minute |
| | | (modeled at avg 15 strikes/sec) |
| Excavator | Hitachi 450-470 | 31 kNm rated energy |

Table 4. Construction Equipment

3.2.2 Pile Installation Methods

Installation and Removal of Temporary (Template) Piles

A maximum of 30 temporary 18-inch-diameter piles will be installed and removed using a vibratory hammer and impacting hammer in constructing the project trestle.

Installation of Permanent Piles

All permanent 24-inch-diameter and 16-inch-diameter piles will be initially installed with a vibratory hammer. After vibratory driving, piles will be socketed into the bedrock with DTH drilling equipment. Finally, piles will be driven the final few inches of embedment with an impact hammer.

Piles at the end of the based seaplane float and the corners of the landing dock will be installed as a steel pipe pile frame for added stability and reinforcement (Figure 5). Please see Table 3 for a conservative estimate of the amount of time required for pile installation and removal.



Figure 5. Steel Pipe Pile Frame

3.2.3 Construction Vessels

The following vessels are expected to be used to support construction:

- One material barge (approximately 250 feet by 76 feet by 15.5 feet) to transport materials from Washington to the project site and to be used onsite as a staging area during construction.
- One construction barge (crane barge 280 feet by 76 feet by 16 feet) to transport materials from Washington to the project site and to be used onsite to support construction.
- 1 skiff (25-foot skiff with a 125–250 horsepower outboard motor) transported to the project site on the material barge or acquired locally in Sitka to support construction activities.
- 1 skiff (25-35-foot skiff powered with a 35-50 horsepower outboard motor) transported to the project site on the material barge or acquired locally in Sitka to support Protected Species Observer (PSO) efforts.

3.2.4 Construction Sequence

In-water construction of the SPB will begin with installation of an approximately 240-foot-long trestle. Once the trestle is constructed, floats will be constructed. Trestle and float construction will use the following sequence:

- 1) Vibrate 30 temporary 18-inch-diameter piles for the trestle with a minimum of ten feet into overburden to create a template to guide installation of permanent piles.
- 2) Weld a frame around the temporary piles.
- 3) Within the frame, vibrate, DTH drill, and impact permanent 16-inch-diameter piles into place for the trestle; and vibrate, DTH drill, and impact permanent 16-inch and 24-inch-diameter piles into place for the gangways and floats.
- 4) Remove the frame and temporary piles.
- 5) Perform this sequence working further from the shoreline for each sequence.

After all piles are installed, construction will proceed with installation of the floating docks, gangways, mechanical systems, connections for electricity, water, and lighting, and other above-water components like the vehicle driveway, passenger walkway, and mast lights.

Please see Table 3 for a conservative estimate of the amount of time required for pile installation and removal.

3.2.5 Other In-water Construction and Heavy Machinery Activities

In addition to the activities described above, the proposed action will involve other in-water construction and heavy machinery activities. Examples of other types of activities include using standard barges, tug boats, or other equipment to place and position piles on the substrate via a crane (i.e., "stabbing the pile").

The seaplane floats (constructed elsewhere) of treated timber and galvanized steel fasteners. The submerged timber structural elements of the floats will be pressure treated with creosote because it is the only effective preservative for wood that will remain wet at all times. All other timber components that will not be fully submerged will be pressure treated with ammoniacal copper zinc arsenate. All preservative treatment will be in accordance with best management practices (BMPs) as set forth by the Western Wood Preservers Institute. Floatation includes closed cell expanded polystyrene billets covered with 100 percent solid polyurethane and/or polyethylene floatation tubs to protect from physical damage, water absorption, colonization by encrusting organisms, and other factors.

3.2.6 Project Operation Activities

The new SPB includes operation of a new seaplane takeoff and landing lane and taxi path, which will not require any construction. The new water lane is further north of the existing water lane, away from the O'Connell Bridge and seafood processing facilities. The new water lane is 4,000 feet long by 200 feet wide.

Use and operation of the SPB float will include seaplane loading and unloading, general maintenance, connections for water and electric power, and fueling. SPB uplands will provide above ground fuel tank storage, an access ramp for hauling out seaplanes, vehicle parking, general storage, and covered shelter for passenger waiting.

SPB operation protocols will incorporate BMPs to prevent or minimize contamination from seaplane accidents, general maintenance, fueling, and nonpoint source contaminants from upland facilities.

3.3 DEFINITION OF ACTION AREA

The vicinity of the project area that will be affected directly by the action, referred to as the action area in this document, has been determined by the area of water that will be ensonified above acoustic thresholds in a day. In this case, the action area is the area where received noise levels from vibratory, DTH drilling/socketing, and impact pile driving installation of 16-inch and 24-inch permanent piles and vibratory and impact pile installation and removal of 18-inch temporary piles (the farthest-reaching noise associated with the project) are expected to decline to 120 dB. As shown in Table 6, the noise from the pile driving methods and timing has the capacity to travel up to 11 kilometers from the source.

Project ensonification is truncated where land masses obstruct underwater sound transmission, thus, the action area is largely confined to marine waters within the northern half of Sitka Channel and extending approximately 1.5 miles (4,000 kilometers) from the western opening in the Channel Rock Breakwaters and over 1 mile (3,000 kilometers) from the eastern opening in the Channel Rock Breakwaters (Figure 6). Note, this document also refers to the project vicinity. This term refers to an area larger than the action area, which includes the waters surrounding Japonski Island and eastern Sitka Sound. This term is used because some of the information available about marine mammals in Sitka is based on sightings in the general vicinity of Sitka.

To minimize impacts to humpback whales, Steller sea lions, fin whales, north pacific right whales, and sperm whales, shutdown and monitoring of harassment zones will be implemented to protect and document listed marine mammals in the action area. Please see Table 6 for calculated distances to the Level A and B thresholds, Section 3.5 for mitigation information, shutdown and monitoring zones and figures, and the forthcoming Marine Mammal Monitoring and Mitigation Plan (4MP) for more details on mitigation, shutdown, and monitoring procedures (forthcoming, Appendix A).



Figure 6. New Sitka SPB Action Area and Pile Driving Location

3.3.1 Acoustic Thresholds and Ensonified Area

Using the best available science, NMFS has developed acoustic thresholds that identify the received level of underwater sound above which exposed marine mammals will be reasonably expected to be behaviorally harassed (equated to Level B harassment) or to incur Permanent Threshold Shifts (PTS) of some degree (equated to Level A harassment).

The proposed action area is the perimeter of ensonified impacts to the marine environment. Considerations and mitigation for marine mammals are based off of the action area.

Vibratory driving, DTH drilling/socketing, and impact pile installation, and vibratory and impact pile removal will generate in-water and in-air noise that exceeds acoustic thresholds for ESA-listed species in the area and may result in harassment takes of humpback whales and Steller sea lions.

3.3.2 Level A Harassment

NMFS' Technical Guidance for Assessing the Effects of Anthropogenic Sounds on Marine Mammal Hearing Version 2.0 (NMFS 2018) identifies dual criteria to assess auditory injury (Level A harassment) to five different marine mammal groups (based on hearing sensitivity) as a result of exposure to noise from two different types of sources (impulsive or non-impulsive) (NMFS 2018). SPB construction activity includes the use of both impulsive (impact pile driving) and non-impulsive (vibratory pile driving and removal and DTH drilling/socketing) sources. The thresholds for auditory injury are provided in Table 5.

| | PTS Onset Thresholds*(received level) | | | | |
|-------------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|
| | Impulsive | Non-impulsive | | | |
| Hearing Group | (Impact Pile Driving) | (Vibratory Pile Driving) | | | |
| Low-Frequency (LF) Cetaceans | Cell 1 L _{pk,flat} : 219 dB L _{E,LF} , _{24h} : | Cell 2 L _{E,LF,24h} : 199 dB | | | |
| | 183 dB | | | | |
| Mid-Frequency (MF) Cetaceans | Cell 3 $L_{pk,flat}$: 230 dB $L_{E,MF,24h}$: | Cell 4 L _{E,MF,24h} : 198 dB | | | |
| | 185 dB | | | | |
| High-Frequency (HF) Cetaceans | Cell 5 L _{pk,flat} : 202 dB L _{E,HF,24h} : | Cell 6 <i>L</i> _{E,HF,24h} : 173 dB | | | |
| | 155 dB | | | | |
| Phocid Pinnipeds (PW) | Cell 7 L _{pk,flat} : 218 dB L _{E,PW,24h} : | Cell 8 L _{E,PW,24h} : 201 dB | | | |
| (Underwater) | 185 dB | | | | |
| Otariid Pinnipeds (OW) | Cell 9 L _{pk,flat} : 232 dB L _{E,OW,24h} : | Cell 10 L _{E,OW,24h} : 219 dB | | | |
| (Underwater) | 203 dB | | | | |

Table 5. Thresholds Identifying the Onset of PTS

Adapted from: NMFS 2018

*Dual metric acoustic thresholds for impulsive sounds: Use whichever results in the largest isopleth for calculating PTS onset. If a non-impulsive sound has the potential of exceeding the peak sound pressure level thresholds associated with impulsive sounds, these thresholds should also be considered.

Note: Peak sound pressure (Lpk) has a reference value of 1 μ Pa, and cumulative sound exposure level has a reference value of 1 μ Pa2s. In this Table, thresholds are abbreviated to reflect American National Standards

Institute standards (ANSI 2013). However, peak sound pressure is defined by ANSI as incorporating frequency weighting, which is not the intent for this Technical Guidance. Hence, the subscript "flat" is being included to indicate peak sound pressure should be flat weighted or unweighted within the generalized hearing range. The subscript associated with cumulative sound exposure level thresholds indicates the designated marine mammal auditory weighting function (LF, HF, and VHF cetaceans, and PW and OW pinnipeds) and that the recommended accumulation period is 24 hours. The cumulative sound exposure level thresholds could be exceeded in a multitude of ways (i.e., varying exposure levels and durations, duty cycle). When possible, it is valuable for action proponents to indicate the conditions under which these acoustic thresholds will be exceeded.

3.3.3 Level B Harassment

NMFS predicts that all marine mammals are likely to be behaviorally harassed in a manner that is considered Level B harassment (disturbing behavioral patterns without injuring) when exposed to underwater anthropogenic noise above received levels of 120 decibels (dB) re 1µPa (microPascal) root mean square (rms) for continuous and above 160 dB re 1µPa rms for non-explosive impulsive sources (NMFS 2018).

In addition to underwater noise, pinnipeds can be adversely affected by in-air noise. Loud noises can cause hauled-out pinnipeds to flush back into the water, leading to disturbance and possible injury. NMFS has established an in-air noise disturbance threshold of 100 dB rms for Steller sea lions (NMFS 2018). According to the blasting plan (Southeast Earthmovers 2020), uplands rock blasting would not to exceed 90 dB at the center of the blast, which is below the in-air noise disturbance threshold for Steller sea lions. Pile driving and removal associated with this project will generate in-air noise above ambient levels within the action area but will not extend more than 69 meters and 22 meters from any type of pile being impacted or vibrated, respectively.¹ Given that there are no documented Steller sea lion haulouts in the action area, no in-air disturbance to hauled-out individuals are anticipated as a result of the proposed project; thus, land area is not included in the action area.

3.3.4 Calculated Distances to Level A and Level B Thresholds

For this project distances to the Level A and Level B thresholds were calculated based on various source levels for a given activity and pile type (e.g. vibratory removal 18-inch diameter steel pile, impact pile driving 24-inch diameter steel pile) and, for Level A harassment, accounted for the maximum duration of that activity per day using the practical spreading model in the spreadsheet tool developed by NMFS. Calculated distances to thresholds are shown in Table 6 and range from approximately 1 meter to 11 kilometers. Please see Section 3.5 for monitoring and shutdown zones associated with these thresholds, and attached threshold calculation spreadsheets (Appendix B).

¹ Predicted distances for in-air threshold distances. The Washington State Department of Transportation has documented un-weighted rms levels for a vibratory hammer (30-inch pile) to an average 96.5 dB and a maximum of 103.2 dB at 15 meters (Laughlin 2010). The Port of Anchorage, AK found source levels of 101 dB at 15 meters during impact installation of 48-inch-diameter steel piles (Austin et al. 2016). The maximum source level from these studies of 103.2 was used as a source level for this project.

| | | Distance (in meters) to Level A and Level B ¹ Thresholds | | | |
|---|-----------------------------------|---|-------------------------------|---------|---------|
| Activity | Received Level at 10 meters | Level A ² | | | Level B |
| | | Low- Frequency Cetaceans | Mid- Frequency Cetacean | Otariid | |
| Vibr | atory Pile Dri | iving/Removal | | | |
| 18-inch steel temporary installation 15 min per pile, 60 minutes/day (8 days) | 161 SPL RMS ³ | 2.3 | 0.2 | 0.1 | 4,642 |
| 18-inch steel temporary removal 15 min per pile, 60 minutes/day (8 days) | 161 SPL RMS ³ | 2.3 | 0.2 | 0.1 | 4,642 |
| 16-inch steel permanent installation 15 min per pile, 60 minutes/day (18 days) | 161 SPL RMS ³ | 2.3 | 0.2 | 0.1 | 4,642 |
| 24-inch steel permanent installation 15 min per pile, 30 minutes/day (41 days) | 161 SPL RMS ³ | 2.3 | 0.2 | 0.1 | 4,642 |
| DTH D | rilling/Socke | ting Pile Drivir | ng | | |
| 16-inch steel permanent installation 5 hours per pile, 10 hours/ day (18 days) | 146 SEL/ 173 PK ⁴ | 13.6 | 8.2 | 8.4 | 11,659 |
| 24-inch steel permanent installation 15 min per pile, 30 minutes/day (41 days) | 154 SEL/ 166 PK⁵ | 16.3 | 9.9 | 10.0 | 11,659 |
| | Impact Pile | Driving | | | |
| 16-inch steel permanent installation 5 min per pile, 10 minutes/day (18 days) | 158 SEL/ 182 PK ⁶ | 7.4 | 0.3 | 0.3 | 97 |
| 24-inch steel permanent installation 5 min per pile, 10 minutes/day (41 days) | 177 SEL/ 203 PK ⁷ | 136 | 4.8 | 5.3 | 97 |
| 18-inch steel temporary installation 15 min per pile, 60 minutes/day (8 days) | 177 SEL/ 203 PK ⁷ | 136 | 4.8 | 5.3 | 97 |

| Table 6. Distances to NMFS Level A an | nd B Acoustic Thresholds |
|---------------------------------------|--------------------------|
|---------------------------------------|--------------------------|

¹Distances, in meters, refer to the maximum radius of the zone.

² The values provided here represent the distance at which an animal may incur PTS if that animal remained at that distance for the entire duration of the activity within a 24-hour period. For example, a harbor seal (phocid) will have to remain 1.4 meters from 24-inch piles being installed via vibratory methods for 1 hour for PTS to occur. ³ The 16-inch, 18-inch, and 24-inch-diameter vibratory pile driving and 18-inch-diameter vibratory pile removal source level of 161 SPL is proxy from median received levels at 10 meters for vibratory pile driving of 24-inch steel piles driven at the Naval Base Kitsap in Bangor, Washington (Naval Facilities Engineering Systems Command 2012) and from acoustic modeling of nearshore marine pile driving at Navy installations in Puget Sound (United States Navy 2015). Level A Distances calculated using NMFS Version 2.1 2020 User Spreadsheet Tab A.1 Vibratory Pile Driving.

⁴ The 16-inch pile DTH drilling/socketing sound source level of 146 sound exposure level (SEL)/ 173 peak sound level (PK) is proxy from Underwater noise characterization of down-the-hole pile driving activities

off Biorka Island, Alaska (Guan and Miner 2020). Level A Distances calculated using NMFS Version 2.1 2020 User Spreadsheet Tab E.2 DTH Pile Driving.

⁵ The 24-inch pile DTH drilling/socketing sound source level of 154 sound exposure level (SEL)/ 190 peak sound level (PK) is proxy from Hydroacoustic Pile Driving Noise Study (Denes et al. 2016). Level A Distances calculated using NMFS Version 2.1 2020 User Spreadsheet Tab E.2 DTH Pile Driving.

⁶ The 16-inch impact pile driving source level of 158 SEL/ 182 PK is proxy from Sound Mount Test Pile Project in Oakley, CA from Technical Guidance for Assessment and Mitigation of the Hydroacoustic Effects of Pile Driving on Fish (California Department of Transportation 2015). Level A Distances calculated using NMFS Version 2.1 2020 User Spreadsheet Tab E.1 Impact Pile Driving.

⁷ The 18-inch and 24-inch impact pile driving source level of 178 SEL/ 203 PK is proxy from Rodeo Dock Repair in Rodeo, CA from Technical Guidance for Assessment and Mitigation of the Hydroacoustic Effects of Pile Driving on Fish (California Department of Transportation 2015). Level A Distances calculated using NMFS Version 2.1 2020 User Spreadsheet Tab E.1 Impact Pile Driving.

3.4 PROPOSED MITIGATION MEASURES

To minimize effects to listed species, CBS proposes to implement the mitigation measures outlined below.

3.4.1 General Construction Mitigation Measures

The project uses the most compact design possible, while meeting the demands of the vessels that will use the facility.

- The project uses a design that does not require dredging or in-water blasting and to the extent possible given project requirements, minimizes fill and on land blasting.
- The project uses a design that incorporates the smallest-diameter piles practicable while still minimizing the overall number of piles.
- Noise associated with in-water pile driving will be localized and occur over confined time intervals. In-water pile driving will occur over a 179-day period (not necessarily consecutive days). During that time, vibratory driving will occur for approximately 45 hours, DTH drilling/socketing will occur for approximately 590 hours, and impact pile driving will occur for approximately 13 hours. A maximum of 60 minutes of vibratory pile driving, 10 hours of DTH drilling/socketing, or 10 minutes of impact pile driving will occur each day of pile driving.
- Construction will be suspended before the likely start of the herring spawning season and will resume after the spawning season concludes (anticipated March 15 to April 30).
- Any treated wood that comes in contact with water will be treated in accordance with BMPs developed by the Western Wood Preservers Institute. Treated wood will be inspected before installation to ensure that no superficial deposits of preservative material remain on the wood.

- Plans for avoiding, minimizing, and responding to releases of sediments, contaminants, fuels, oil, and other pollutants will be developed and implemented.
- Spill response equipment will be kept on-site during construction and operation.
- Floats or barges will not be grounded at any tidal stage.

3.4.2 Pile Driving and Removal Mitigation Measures

- The project has been designed to use the fewest piles practicable (alternative designs required significantly more piles). This design was selected to reduce noise impacts associated with the duration of pile driving.
- Pile driving softening material will be used to minimize noise during vibratory and impact pile driving. Much of the noise generated during pile installation comes from contact between the pile being driven and the steel template used to hold the pile in place. The contractor will use high-density polyethylene (HDPE) or ultra-high-molecular-weight polyethylene (UHMW) softening material on all templates to eliminate steel on steel noise generation.
- Before impact pile driving begins, the contractor will employ "soft start" procedures.
- When the impact hammer is used, a pile cushion will be placed inside the drive cap to reduce noise.

3.4.3 Marine Mammal Monitoring and Mitigation Measures

The CBS is developing a 4MP as a part of its IHA application. The 4MP is forthcoming, and is summarized below (Appendix A).

A minimum of three PSOs will be present during all in-water work. If marine mammals are observed within the shutdown or monitoring zones (Tables 7 and 8), the sighting will be appropriately documented as a Level A or B take. If the number of Steller sea lions or humpback whales observed within the Level A or B zones during noise-producing project activities approaches the number of takes authorized in the Incidental Take Statement (ITS), the CBS will notify NMFS and request that the USACE and NMFS PR1 reinitiate consultation. The project will also incorporate soft start or ramp-up procedures when beginning or resuming impacting pile installation and extraction activities after an interruption of activity lasting more than 30 minutes. These mitigation measures will decrease the likelihood that Steller sea lions and humpback whales will be exposed to SPLs that may result in injury.

3.4.3.1 Protected Species Observers

Qualified PSOs will be employed for marine mammal monitoring. PSOs will maintain verbal communication with the construction personnel to implement appropriate mitigation measures.

3.4.3.2 Proposed Monitoring

The proposed Level A and Level B disturbance zones will be monitored 30 minutes before, during, and 30 minutes after all in-water construction activity. If a humpback whale or Steller sea lion is observed within the Level A or B zones, the sighting will be documented as a Level A

or B exposure, depending on location of take. If the number of Steller sea lions or humpback whales exposed to Level A or Level B harassment approaches the number of takes allowed by the IHA, the CBS will notify NMFS and seek further consultation.

3.4.3.3 Clearing the Shutdown Zones

Prior to the start of daily in-water construction activity, the PSO will clear the shutdown zones for a period of 30 minutes. Clearing the shutdown zone means a humpback whale or Steller sea lion has not been observed within their respective shutdown zones for that 30-minute period (Table 6). If a humpback whale or Steller sea lion is observed within the shutdown zones, a soft-start will not proceed until they have left the shutdown zone or has not been observed for 30 minutes.

3.4.3.4 Soft Start Procedures

Soft start procedures will be used prior to pile removal and installation, to allow marine mammals to leave the area prior to exposure to maximum noise levels. For vibratory hammers, the soft-start technique will initiate noise from the hammer for 15 seconds at a reduced energy level, followed by 1-minute waiting period and repeat the procedure 2 additional times. For impact hammers, the soft-start technique will initiate 3 strikes at a reduced energy level, followed by a 30-second waiting period. This procedure will also be repeated two additional times.

3.4.3.5 Shutdown Procedures

Once pile driving has been initiated, if a humpback whale or Steller sea lion is observed approaching or within a shutdown zone, shutdown procedures will be implemented to prevent exposure. The shutdown zones are outlined in Table 7.

The animal will be considered clear if it has been observed leaving the shutdown zone or it has not been seen in the shutdown zone for 30 minutes.

3.5 MITIGATION MEASURES DESIGNED TO REDUCE IMPACTS TO LISTED SPECIES

- There will be a nominal 10-meter shutdown zone for construction-related activity where acoustic injury is not an issue. This type of work could include (but is not limited to) the following activities: (1) movement of the barge to the pile location; (2) positioning of the pile on the substrate via a crane (i.e., stabbing the pile); (3) removal of the pile from the water column/substrate via a crane (i.e., deadpull); or (4) the placement of sound attenuation devices around the piles. For these activities, monitoring will take place from 15 minutes prior to initiation until the action is complete.
- PSOs will be present in the action area during all vibratory pile removal and vibratory, impact, and drilling installation.
- To ensure that the action area has been surveyed for humpback whale and Steller sea lion presence, pile driving/removal will not begin until a PSO has given a notice to proceed.

- Piles will be driven with a vibratory hammer to the maximum extent possible (i.e., until the desired depth is achieved or to refusal) prior to DTH drilling/socketing and using an impact hammer.
- To reduce noise production, DTH drilling/socketing and impact hammering will use the minimum energy needed to safely install the piles.
- To minimize noise during vibratory, DTH drilling/socketing, and impact pile driving, pile caps (pile softening material) will be used. Much of the noise generated during pile installation comes from contact between the pile being driven and the steel template used to hold the pile in place. The contractor will use HDPE or UHMW softening material on all templates to eliminate steel on steel noise generation.
- To minimize impacts, a "soft start" technique will be used when impact pile driving with an initial set of three strikes from the impact hammer at 40 percent energy, followed by a one-minute waiting period, then two subsequent 3-strike sets.
- The soft-start will be applied prior to the beginning of pile driving/removal activities each day or when pile driving/removal hammers have been idle for more than 30 minutes.
- Prior to pile driving, the action area will be surveyed for 30 minutes. If any humpback whale or Steller sea lion is sighted within a shutdown zone during this 30-minute survey period prior to pile driving, or during the soft-start, contractors will delay pile driving/removal until the animal(s) is confirmed to have moved outside of and on a path away from the area or if 30 minutes have elapsed since the last sighting of the marine mammal within the shutdown zone.
- Shutdowns will be implemented if a humpback whale or Steller sea lion appears likely to enter a shutdown zone (Section 3.5)

3.5.1 Level A Shutdown Zones

The CBS will implement shutdowns to protect Mexico DPS humpback whales and Steller sea lion from Level A harassment as shown in Table 7 and Figure 7. These shutdowns will prevent auditory injury during vibratory installation, vibratory removal, DTH drilling/socketing, and impact installation.
| Sourco | Shutdown Zone (meters) | | | |
|--|---------------------------|----------------------|--|--|
| Source | Humpback Whales | Steller Sea Lions | | |
| Barge movements, pile positioning, on land rock blasting, sound attenuation placement ¹ | 10 | 10 | | |
| Vibratory Pile Driving/Removal | | | | |
| 18-inch steel temporary installation (30 piles; 60 min per day on 8 days) | 10 | 10 | | |
| 18-inch steel temporary removal (30 piles; 60 min per day on 8 days) | 10 | 10 | | |
| 16-inch steel permanent installation (36 piles; 60 min per day on 9 days) | 10 | 10 | | |
| 24-inch steel permanent installation (82 piles; 60 min per day on 21 days) | 10 | 10 | | |
| DTH Drilling/Socketing Pile Driving | | | | |
| 16-inch steel permanent installation (36 piles; 10 hours per day on 18 days) | 25 | 10 | | |
| 24-inch steel permanent installation (82 piles; 10 hours on 41 days) | 25 | 10 | | |
| Impact Pile Installation | | | | |
| 16-inch steel permanent installation (36 piles; 30 min per day on 18 days) | 10 | 10 | | |
| 24-inch steel permanent installation (82 piles; 30 min per day on 41 days) | 200 | 10 | | |
| 18-inch steel temporary installation (30 piles; 60 min per day on 8 days) | 200 | 10 | | |

| Table 7. Pile | Driving Shutdow | vn Zones Designed t | to Avoid Level A Take |
|---------------|-----------------|---------------------|-----------------------|
|---------------|-----------------|---------------------|-----------------------|

Shutdown zone distances, in meters, refer to the maximum radius of the zone and are rounded (see Table 6 for calculated distances).

¹ Although acoustic injury is not the primary concern with these construction activities, shutdowns will be implemented to avoid impacts to species.

² The farthest distance that sound will transmit from the source is 3,000 meters before transmission is stopped by Apple Islands. See Table 6 for calculated distances based on the practical spreading model.



Figure 7. Level A Shutdown Zone

3.5.2 Level B Monitoring Zones

The CBS is requesting Level B take of Mexico DPS humpback whales (during DTH drilling/socketing only) and Steller sea lions (during all pile driving) incidental to constructing the new SPB construction and shutdowns associated with Level B harassment of this species are not proposed. The monitoring zones associated with Level B disturbance are outlined in Table 8 and Figure 8.

| Source | Monitoring | | |
|--|------------|--|--|
| | Zones (m) | | |
| Vibratory Pile Driving/Removal | | | |
| 18-inch steel temporary installation (30 piles; 30 min per day on 15 days) | 3,000* | | |
| 18-inch steel temporary removal (30 piles; 30 min per day on 15 days) | 3,000* | | |
| 16-inch steel permanent installation (36 piles; 30 min per day on 18 days) | 3,000* | | |
| 24-inch steel permanent installation (82 piles; 30 min per day on 41 days) | 3,000* | | |
| DTH/Socketing Pile Driving | | | |
| 16-inch steel permanent installation (36 piles; 10 hours per day on 18 | 2 000* | | |
| days) | 5,000 | | |
| 24-inch steel permanent installation (82 piles; 10 hours on 41 day) | 3,000* | | |
| Impact Pile Installation | | | |
| 18-inch steel temporary installation (30 piles; 30 min per day on 15 days) | 100 | | |
| 18-inch steel temporary removal (30 piles; 30 min per day on 15 days) | 100 | | |
| 16-inch steel permanent installation (36 piles; 30 min per day on 18 days) | 100 | | |
| 24-inch steel permanent installation (82 piles; 30 min per day on 41 days) | 100 | | |

Table 8. Level B Monitoring Zones

Shutdown zone distances, in meters, refer to the maximum radius of the zone and are rounded (see Table 6 for calculated distances).

^{*} The farthest distance that sound will transmit from the source is 3,000 meters before transmission is stopped by Apple Islands. See Table 6 for calculated distances based on the practical spreading model.



Figure 8. Level B Monitoring Zones

4 DESCRIPTION OF THE SPECIES AND THEIR HABITAT

Five species of ESA-listed marine mammals under NMFS's jurisdiction may occur in the action area:

- Endangered Western DPS (WDPS) Steller sea lion (E. jubatus)
- Threatened Mexico DPS humpback whale (*M. novaeangliae*)
- Endangered fin whale (*B. physalus*)
- Endangered North Pacific right whale (*E. japonica*)
- Endangered sperm whale (P. macrocephalus)

Critical habitat has been designated for two of these species, the WDPS Steller sea lion and the North Pacific right whale (Table 1); however, the project action area does not encompass critical habitat of any ESA-listed species, and thus this project will have no effect on critical habitat. Critical habitat for threatened Mexico DPS humpback whale is proposed and undergoing the approval process. The proposed critical habitat will include the project action area.

4.1 SPECIES THE PROJECT IS NOT LIKELY TO ADVERSELY AFFECT

We reviewed the species listed above and conclude that the following species are not likely to be adversely affected by the proposed action: fin whale, North Pacific right whale, and sperm whale. These analyses are provided below. Some of the following sections contain direct excerpts from species information on the NMFS website.

4.1.1 Fin Whale

The fin whale was listed as an endangered species under the Endangered Species Conservation Act (ECSA) in 1970 (35 FR 18319; December 2, 1970) and continued to be listed as endangered following passage of the ESA in 1973. The fin whale is listed as depleted throughout its range under the MMPA of 1972. The main reason for listing is that fin whales were depleted by historic and modern whaling practices (NMFS 2015).

A migratory species, fin whales generally spend the spring and early summer feeding on krill and small fish in cold, high latitude waters as far north as the Chukchi Sea, with regular feeding grounds in the Gulf of Alaska, Prince William Sound, along the Aleutians Islands, and around Kodiak Island. In the fall, fin whales tend to return to low latitudes for the winter breeding season, though some may remain in residence in their high latitude ranges if food resources remain plentiful (Alaska Department of Fish and Game [ADF&G] 2008). In the eastern Pacific, fin whales typically spend the winter off the central California coast and into the Gulf of Alaska.

Fin whales are found in deep offshore waters. Panigada et al. (2005) found water depth to be the most significant variable in describing fin whale distribution, with more than 90 percent of sightings occurring in waters deeper than 2,000 m.

Fin whales are rare in the inside waters of southeastern Alaska (Neilson et al. 2012). Given that no fin whales have been observed in marine mammal surveys conducted around Sitka Channel, no fin whales are expected to occur within the action area (Straley and Pendell 2017).

Fin whales are not expected in the project area because of its location in the shallow and narrow at the north end of Sitka Channel. The CBS has not requested, and NMFS PR1 does not intend to authorize, any injury or harassment of fin whales in association with the project. Given their expected low density in the project area, the shallowness of the area relative to the species' preferred foraging depths (Panigada et al. 2005), and the implementation of shutdown procedures if a marine mammal is observed likely to enter the shutdown zone, we conclude that it is extremely unlikely to encounter a fin whale in the action area, and thus the Sitka SPB Project **is not likely to adversely affect fin whales**.

4.1.1.1 Fin Whale Critical Habitat

Critical habitat has not been designated for the fin whale.

4.1.2 North Pacific Right Whale

The North Pacific right whale was listed as an endangered species under the ECSA in 1970 (73 FR 12024; 2008) and continued to be listed as endangered following passage of the ESA in 1973. The North Pacific right whale is considered depleted throughout its range under the MMPA. In 2008, NMFS listed the endangered northern right whale (*Eubalaena spp.*) as two separate, endangered species: North Pacific right whale (*E. japonica*) and North Atlantic right whale (*E. glacialis*). The main reason for listing is that the whales were heavily exploited by whaling in the North Pacific (NMFS 2015a).

North Pacific right whales inhabit the Pacific Ocean, particularly between 20°N and 60°N. They primarily occur in coastal or shelf waters, although movements over deep waters are known. Few sightings of right whales occur in Alaska; those that do occur in Alaska are primarily in the central North Pacific and Bering Sea. Since 1996, right whales have been consistently observed in Bristol Bay (southeastern Bering Sea) during the summer months. Sightings have been reported as far south as central Baja California in the eastern North Pacific, as far south as Hawaii in the central North Pacific, and as far north as the sub-Arctic waters of the Bering Sea and Sea of Okhotsk in the summer (NMFS 2015a).

According to NMFS, right whales are the rarest of all large whale species. Depleted by whaling and illegal harvesting, only an estimated 30 North Pacific right whales remain in the eastern stock (the population of whales that summers in the southeastern Bering Sea and Gulf of Alaska) (NMFS 2015b).

Migratory patterns of the North Pacific right whale are unknown, although it is thought the whales spend the summer on high-latitude feeding grounds far from shore and migrate to more temperate waters during the winter. For much of the year, their distribution is strongly correlated to the distribution of their prey. The primary food sources are zooplankton, including copepods, euphausiids, and cyprids. Right whales are skimmers: they feed by removing prey

from the water using baleen while moving with an open mouth through a patch of zooplankton (NMFS 2015a).

Given that no North Pacific right whales have been observed in marine mammal surveys conducted around Sitka Channel, no North Pacific right whales are expected to occur within the action area (Straley and Pendell 2017). North Pacific right whales are rare in the action area. During Straley et al.'s (2018) 190 hours of monitoring, no North Pacific right whales were observed in the O'Connell Bridge Lightering Float Pile Replacement Project action area, about 1500 meters away from the Sitka Seaplane Base Project area. The whales were not observed during the 21 days of monitoring during the construction of Gary Paxton Industrial Park Dock in October and November 2017 (Turnagain Marine Construction [Turnagain] 2017). They were not observed during the 8 days of monitoring during the construction of the Sitka Petro Dock in January 2017 (Windward Project Solutions [Windward] 2017). They were not sighted during monitoring at Biorka Island in June, July, August, or September 2018 (Turnagain 2018). Additionally, North Pacific right whales were not observed during limited monitoring conducted in September 2018 in the immediate vicinity of the O'Connell lightering Float (SolsticeAK 2018).

North Pacific right whales are not expected in the project area because they are so rare, and because the project location is not a documented feeding or calving area. The CBS has not requested, and NMFS PR1 does not intend to authorize, any injury or harassment of North Pacific right whales in association with the project. Given their expected low density in the project area and implementation of shutdown procedures if a marine mammal is observed likely to enter the shutdown zone, we conclude that it is extremely unlikely to encounter a North Pacific right whale in the action area, and thus the Sitka Seaplane Base Project **is not likely to adversely affect North Pacific right whales**.

4.1.2.1 North Pacific Right Whale Critical Habitat

In April 2008, because the North Pacific right whale was listed as a separate, endangered species (the "northern right whale"), and because this was a newly listed entity, NMFS was required to designate critical habitat for the "North Pacific right whale." The same two areas, within the Gulf of Alaska (just southeast of Kodiak Island) and within the Bering Sea (west of Bristol Bay and north of False Pass), that were previously designated as critical habitat (71 FR 38277; 2006) for the northern right whale are now designated as critical habitat for the North Pacific right whale (73 FR 19000, 2008) (NMFS 2015a; NMFS 2007).

The designated critical habitat in the Gulf of Alaska (located over 900 km [550 m] west of the proposed action) is the closest designated critical habitat for the North Pacific right whale and is well outside the action area. The project will have **no effect on North Pacific right whale critical habitat**.

4.1.3 Sperm Whale

The sperm whale was listed as an endangered species under the ECSA in 1969 (35 FR 18319; December 2, 1970) and continued to be listed as endangered following passage of the ESA in

1973. The sperm whale was listed as depleted under the MMPA of 1972. The main reason for its listing is that most sperm whale populations were depleted by modern whaling (NMFS 2010).

Sperm whales are found typically far from land throughout the world's oceans in deep waters between about 60°N and 60°S. They tend to inhabit areas with a water depth of 600 meters (1,968 ft) or more, and are uncommon in waters less than 300 meters (984 ft) deep (NMFS 2020a). Sperm whale calls have been detected year-round in the Gulf of Alaska (Mellinger et al. 2004). They can also be found in the Bering Sea and throughout the Aleutian Islands (ADF&G 2020).

Sperm whale distribution is dependent on their food source (primarily large squid, sharks, skates, and fishes) and suitable conditions for breeding, and varies with the sex and age composition of the group. The species abundance and migrations are not as predictable or well understood as migrations of most baleen whales. In some mid-latitudes, there seems to be a general trend to migrate north and south depending on the seasons (whales move poleward in the summer). However, in tropical and temperate areas, there appears to be no obvious seasonal migration. Females and young whales generally stay in tropical and temperate waters. Male sperm whales tend to migrate north in the summer to feed (NMFS 2020a).

Given that no sperm whales have been observed in marine mammal surveys conducted around Sitka Channel, no sperm whales are expected to occur within the action area (Straley and Pendell 2017). Sperm whales are not expected in the project area because of its location in the shallow and narrow north entrance of Sitka Channel. The CBS has not requested, and NMFS PR1 does not intend to authorize, any injury or harassment of sperm whales in association with the project. Given their expected low density in the project area, the shallowness of the area relative to the species' preferred habitat depths, and the implementation of shutdown procedures if a marine mammal is observed likely to enter the shutdown zone, we conclude that it is extremely unlikely to encounter a sperm whale in the action area, and thus the Sitka Seaplane Base Project **is not likely to adversely affect sperm whales**.

4.1.3.1 Sperm Whale Critical Habitat

Critical habitat has not been designated for the sperm whale.

4.2 SPECIES THE PROJECT IS LIKELY TO ADVERSELY AFFECT

After reviewing information about the Mexico DPS humpback Whale and WDPS Steller Sea Lion, it is likely these species will be adversely affected by the proposed action. Analyses are provided below. Some of the following sections contain direct excerpts from species information on the NMFS website and from NMFS biological opinions that evaluated humpback whales in Southeast Alaska (NMFS 2017, NMFS 2017a).

4.2.1 Mexico DPS Humpback Whale

4.2.1.1 Description, Status, and Range

Humpback whales are classified in the cetacean suborder Mysticeti, whales characterized by having baleen plates for filtering food from water. The humpback whale is one of the larger baleen whales, weighing up to 25-40 tons (22,000-36,000 kilograms; 50,000-80,000 pounds) and up to 18 meters (60 feet) long, with females larger than males. Newborns are about 4.5 meters (15 feet) long and weigh about 1 ton (900 kilograms; 2,000 pounds). Humpback whales reach sexual maturity at 4 to 7 years, and their lifespan can be 50 years or more. The species is well known for long pectoral fins, which can be up to 4.6 meters (15 feet) long. The body coloration is primarily dark grey, but individuals have a variable amount of white on their pectoral fins and belly. This variation is so distinctive that tail fluke pigmentation patterns are used to identify individual whales, analogous to human fingerprints.

Humpback whales filter feed on tiny crustaceans (mostly krill), plankton, and small fish; they can consume up to 3,000 pounds (1,360 kg) of food per day (Chenoweth et al. 2017). Well-documented North Pacific humpback whale prey include: krill, Pacific Herring, juvenile salmon, Capelin, Pacific Sandlance, juvenile Walleye Pollock, Eulachon, Pacific Sandfish, Surf Smelt and Lanternfish (Straley et al. 2017). Common hunting methods involve using air bubbles to herd, corral, or disorient fish.

Nearly all populations of humpback whales undertake seasonal migrations from their tropical calving and breeding grounds in winter to their high-latitude feeding grounds in summer. In their summer foraging areas and winter calving areas, humpback whales tend to occupy shallower, coastal waters; during their seasonal migrations; however, humpback whales disperse widely in deep, pelagic waters and tend to avoid shallower, coastal waters (Winn and Reichley 1985). There is also evidence that a small number of whales have overwintered in SEA and did not undergo their winter migrations to breeding areas (Straley et al. 2018).

In 1970, the humpback whale was listed as endangered worldwide, under the ESCA of 1969 (35 FR 8491; June 2, 1970), primarily due to decimation from whaling. Congress replaced the ESCA with the ESA in 1973, and humpback whales continued to be listed as endangered. Following the cessation of most legal whale harvest, humpback whale numbers increased.

4.2.1.2 Abundance

Within the summer feeding area of Southeast Alaska / Northern British Columbia, Wade et al. (2016) estimates the abundance of humpback whales to be 6,137 (critical value [CV] =0.07). Based on the probability of occurrence reported in Wade et al. (2016) (Table 3), it is likely that Southeast Alaska/Northern British Columbia may contain 5,763 whales from the non-listed Hawaii DPS (recovered) and 374 whales from the threatened Mexico DPS.

The humpback whale is distributed worldwide in all ocean basins, with a total population of at least 80,000. They have a broad geographical range from tropical to temperate waters in the Northern Hemisphere and from tropical to near-ice-edge waters in the Southern Hemisphere

(Allen and Angliss. 2015). Using fluke identification photographs from 2004 through 2006, Barlow et al. (2011) estimates that the abundance of humpback whales in the North Pacific is 21,063 animals. More recently, using a multi-strata analysis, Wade et al. (2016) estimates the abundance of humpback whales in the North Pacific is 16,132 for the winter areas and 15,805 for the summer areas. The population in the North Pacific has increased substantially after the cessation of major commercial whaling operations in the late twentieth century, and the current abundance estimate exceeds some pre-whaling estimates.

In 2015, NMFS conducted a global status review of humpback whales and changed the status of humpback whales under the ESA (Bettridge et al. 2015). The globally-listed species was divided into 14 DPS's, 4 of which are endangered and 1 is threatened, and the remaining 9 are no longer listed under the ESA (81 FR 62260; September 8, 2016). Wade et al. (2016) provides information on the basis for DPS designation and the status of each DPS. Figure 9 depicts humpback whale abundance and migratory patterns.



Figure 9. Humpback Whale Abundance

Note: Migratory destinations from feeding area (blue) to breeding area (green) are indicated by arrows with the width of arrow proportional to the percentage of whales moving into winter breeding area (Wade et al. 2016).

Humpback whales may be seen at any time of year in Alaska, but most animals winter in temperate or tropical waters near Mexico, Hawaii, and in the western Pacific near Japan. In the spring, the animals migrate back to Alaska where food is abundant. They tend to concentrate in several areas, including Southeast Alaska, Prince William Sound, near Kodiak Island, the Barren Islands at the mouth of Cook Inlet, and along the Aleutian Islands. The Chukchi Sea is the northernmost area for humpbacks during their summer feeding; although, in 2007, humpbacks were seen in the Beaufort Sea east of Barrow, suggesting a northward expansion of their feeding grounds (Zimmerman and Karpovich 2008).

4.2.1.3 Humpback Whales in Southeast Alaska

Based on an analysis of migration between winter mating/calving areas and summer feeding areas using photo-identification, Wade et al. (2016) concluded that humpback whales feeding in Alaskan waters belong primarily to the Hawaii DPS (now recovered), with small contributions of Mexico DPS (threatened) and Western North Pacific DPS (endangered) individuals. The probability of encountering whales from each of the four North Pacific DPS's in various feeding areas is summarized in Table 9 below (NMFS 2016).

| | North Pacific Distinct Population Segments | | | |
|---|--|----------------------------|----------------------------|--|
| Summer Feeding Areas | Western North Pacific DPS (endangered) | Hawaii DPS (not listed) | Mexico DPS (threatened) | Central America DPS (endangered) |
| Kamchatka | 100% | 0% | 0% | 0% |
| Aleutian Islands, Bering, Chukchi, Beaufort | 4.4% | 86.5% | 11.3% | 0% |
| Gulf of Alaska | 0.5% | 89.0% | 10.5% | 0% |
| Southeast Alaska / Northern British Columbia | 0% | 93.9% | 6.1% | 0% |
| Southern British Columbia / Washington | 0% | 52.9% | 41.9% | 14.7% |
| Oregon/California | 0% | 0% | 89.6% | 19.7% |

Table 9. Probability of Encountering Humpback Whales from each DPS in the North PacificOcean in Various Feeding Areas (Adapted from Wade et al. 2016)

NOTE: For the endangered DPS's, these percentages reflect the upper limit of the 95 percent confidence interval of the probability of occurrence in order to give the benefit of the doubt to the species and to reduce the chance of underestimating potential takes.

Whales from the Western North Pacific, Mexico, and Hawaii DPS overlap on feeding grounds off Alaska and are not visually distinguishable. In the action area the vast majority of humpback whales (94%) are likely to be from the recovered Hawaii DPS and about 6% are likely to be from the threatened Mexico DPS.

In recent decades, humpback whales have been steadily increasing in southeast Alaska. The southeast Alaska-specific rate of increase is approximately 5.6% annually (Calambokidis et al. 2008) and the latest estimate of abundance for Southeast Alaska and northern British Columbia is between 3,005 and 6,137, depending on the modeling approach employed. As previously mentioned, humpback whales in Southeast Alaska are 94% comprised of the Hawaii DPS (not

listed) and 6% of the Mexico DPS (threatened; Wade et al. 2016). Given Wade et al. (2016), in this assessment, we use 6% to approximate the percentage of humpback whales observed in the action area that will be from the Mexico DPS.

The Mexico DPS is comprised of approximately 3,264 (CV=0.06) animals (Wade et al. 2016) with an unknown population trend, though likely to be in decline (81 FR 62260).

Within Southeast Alaska, humpback whales are found throughout all major waterways and in a variety of habitats, including open-ocean entrances, open-strait environments, near-shore waters, area with strong tidal currents, and secluded bays and inlets. They tend to concentrate in several areas, including northern Southeast Alaska. Patterns of occurrence likely follow the spatial and temporal changes in prey abundance and distribution with humpback whales adjusting their foraging locations to areas of high prey density (Allen and Angliss 2012).

During 190 hours of observation from 1994 to 2002 from Sitka's Whale Park, 440 humpback whales were observed (Straley et al. 2018). During 21 days of monitoring during the construction of Gary Paxton Industrial Park (GPIP) Dock between October 9 and November 9, 2017, 39 humpback whales were observed (Turnagain 2017). No humpback whales were observed within Sitka Channel and in the vicinity of the O'Connell float during the 8 days of monitoring in January 2017 during the construction of the Sitka Petro Dock (Windward 2017). Near Biorka Island, about 25 kilometers south of the project, 22, 3, 0, and 2 humpback whales were sighted in June, July, and August, and September, 2018, respectively (Turnagain 2018). Humpback whales were not observed during recent monitoring conducted for short periods over 8 days in September 2018 within a 400-meter radius surrounding the O'Connell Bridge Lightering Float (SolsticeAK 2018).

Given their widespread range and their opportunistic foraging strategies, humpback whales may be in the project vicinity year-round during the proposed project activities.

4.2.1.4 Hearing Ability

Humpback whales are classified by NMFS as low-frequency cetaceans with a generalized hearing range of 7 hertz (Hz) to 35 kilohertz (kHz) (NMFS 2018). However, because of the lack of captive subjects and logistical challenges of bringing experimental subjects into the laboratory, no direct measurements of mysticetes hearing are available. Consequently, hearing in mysticetes is estimated based on other means such as vocalizations (Wartzok and Ketten, 1999), anatomy (Houser et al. 2001; Ketten 1997), behavioral responses to sound (Edds-Walton 1997), and nominal natural background noise conditions in their likely frequency ranges of hearing (Clark and Ellison 2004). The combined information from these and other sources strongly suggests that mysticetes are likely most sensitive to sound from perhaps tens of hertz to ~10 kHz. However, evidence suggests that humpbacks can hear sounds as low as 7 Hz (Southall et al. 2007), up to 24 kHz, and possibly as high as 30 kHz (Au et al. 2006; Ketten 1997).

4.2.1.5 Critical Habitat

Critical habitat for the Threated Mexico DPS humpback whale is proposed and undergoing the approval process. The proposed critical habitat will include the project action area and is assumed to designate prey as the essential physical or biological feature for species conservation (NMFS 2019). Humpback whale diets are dominated by euphausiid species and small pelagic fish, including Pacific Herring which are found in the project action area.

Pacific Herring serve an important ecological role within Sitka Sound and are known to spawn on intertidal and subtidal substrates within the project area in the spring (ADF&G 2019). They provide an abundant, high energy food source. Herring are also commercially important and support a roe fishery in Sitka that remains one of the largest and most valuable roe fisheries in Alaska. Given that Sitka Channel is an active marine transportation corridor and a small part of Sitka Sound, most herring fishing takes place outside of Sitka Channel.

4.2.2 WDPS Steller Sea Lion

4.2.2.1 Description and Status

Steller sea lions belong to the family Otariidae meaning "eared" seals. Steller sea lions, the largest otariids, show marked sexual dimorphism with males 2-3 times larger than females. On average, adult males weigh 681 kilograms (1,501 pounds) and adult females are much smaller, weighing on average 273 kilograms (602 pounds) (Winship et al. 2001).

Steller sea lions are opportunistic predators, feeding primarily on a wide variety of fishes and cephalopods, including Atka Mackerel, Walleye Pollock, Pacific Herring, Capelin, Pacific Cod, Pacific Sand Lance, and salmon (Pitcher 1981; Merrick et al. 1997). They occasionally feed on other marine mammals and birds (Pitcher and Fay 1982; NMFS 2008). The foraging strategy of Steller sea lions is strongly influenced by seasonality of sea lion reproductive activities on rookeries and the ephemeral nature of many prey species.

The Steller sea lion was listed as a threatened species under the ESA on November 26, 1990 (55 FR 49204). In 1997, NMFS reclassified Steller sea lions as two DPS's based on genetic studies and other information (62 FR 24345; May 7, 1997). At that time, the eastern DPS (EDPS) (which includes animals born east of Cape Suckling, Alaska, at 144°W) was listed as threatened, and the WDPS (which includes animals breeding west of Cape Suckling, both in Alaska and Russia) was listed as endangered. On November 4, 2013, the EDPS was removed from the endangered species list (78 FR 66140).

As summarized most recently by Muto et al. (2016a), the WDPS Steller sea lions decreased from an estimated 220,000-265,000 animals in the late 1970s to less than 50,000 in 2000. Factors that may have contributed to this decline include incidental take in fisheries, legal and illegal shooting, predation, exposure to contaminants, disease, and ocean regime shift/ climate change (NMFS 2008; Miller and Trites 2005). The most recent comprehensive aerial photographic and land-based surveys of WDPS Steller sea lions in Alaska (DeMaster 2014) estimated a total Alaska population (both pups and non-pups) of 49,500 (Muto et al. 2016a). Although Steller sea lion abundance continues to decline in the western Aleutians, numbers are thought to be increasing in the eastern part of the WDPS range (Muto et al. 2020).

4.2.2.2 Range

Steller sea lions prefer the colder temperate to sub-Arctic waters of the North Pacific Ocean. They range along the North Pacific Rim from northern Japan to California, with centers of abundance in the Gulf of Alaska and Aleutian Islands (Loughlin et al. 1984). Although Steller sea lions seasonally inhabit coastal waters of Japan in the winter, the only breeding rookeries located outside the U.S. are found in Russia (Burkanov and Loughlin 2005).

Of the two Steller sea lion populations in Alaska, the EDPS includes sea lions born on rookeries from California north through Southeast Alaska and the WDPS includes those animals born on rookeries from Prince William Sound westward, with an eastern boundary set at 144°W (NMFS 2017b) (Figure 10).



Figure 10. Generalized Ranges of WDPS and EDPS Steller Sea Lions (Source: NMFS 2017b)

Steller sea lions are not known to migrate annually, but individuals may widely disperse outside of the breeding season (late-May to early-July) (Jemison et al. 2013; Allen and Angliss 2015). Jemison et al. (2013) found that there is regular movement of WDPS Steller sea lions across the 144°W boundary (Figure 11). The majority of the cross-boundary movements are temporary with individuals returning to their natal DPS for breeding, but some females from the WDPS have likely emigrated permanently and have given birth to pups at White Sisters and Graves Rocks rookeries. The vast majority of confirmed sightings of WDPS animals have been in northern areas of Southeast Alaska, north of Frederick Sound (Jemison et al. 2013, NMFS 2013).





4.2.2.3 Distribution in the Project Area

Steller sea lions occur year-round in the project area. Most are expected to be from the EDPS; however, it is likely that some Steller sea lions in the action area are from the WDPS (Jemison et al. 2013; NMFS 2013). Jemison et al. (2013) estimated an average annual breeding season movement of Western DPS Steller sea lions to southeast Alaska of 917 animals. Based on surveys and analysis conducted by Hastings et al (2019), an estimated 2.2 percent of Steller sea lions in the vicinity of the project are WDPS Steller sea lions.





From 2000 to 2016, Straley also collected marine mammal data from small vessels or Allen Marine 100-foot catamarans throughout the year. Based on Straley's surveys, Steller sea lion numbers are highest near the project area, in Silver Bay and Eastern Channel of Sitka Sound, in January and February (Figure 12). Sea lions were often seen in groups of 4 or more; however, a group of more than 100 was sighted on at least one occasion (Straley and Pendell 2017).

Steller sea lions were seen during every month of monitoring (September to May) between 1994 and 2002. In 2016 and 2017 land-based surveys and aerial photographs were utilized to research the western Steller sea lion's breeding seasons. The area of research included six regions; eastern, central, and western Gulf of Alaska and eastern, central, and western Aleutian Islands. The findings observed about 11,952 pups and about 42,315 non-pups. At Whale Park, located southeast of the proposed project location, January was the most abundant month with about 190 Steller sea lions spotted. February and November were next with about 170 and 120 Steller sea lions spotted respectively. The fewest Steller sea lions were spotted in the month of May (1995-2002). During the Petro Marine Dock construction on the Sitka Channel in 2017, 3 Steller sea lions were spotted (Straley et al. 2018).

Individual sea lions were seen on 19 of 21 days in Silver Bay and Easter Channel during monitoring for GPIP dock construction between October and November 2017 (Turnagain 2017). Near Biorka Island, sea lions were seen infrequently; six, two, and zero sea lions were sighted in June, July, and August 2018, respectively (Turnagain 2018). During 8 day of monitoring for the Petro Marine dock in January 2017, individual sea lions were seen on 3 days (Windward 2017). Steller sea lions were observed 5 of 8 days during monitoring conducted for 15-minute periods over 8 days in September 2018 within a 400-meter radius surrounding the O'Connell Bridge

Lightering Float (SolsticeAK 2018). In-water construction work for the O'Connell Bridge Lightering Float Pile Replacement Project occurred from June 9 to June 12, 2019. Construction activities included deadpull removal, vibratory hammering, and drilling. 42 Steller sea lions were sighted from June 9 to June 11, 2019. The Steller sea lion's behavior resembled swimming, traveling, foraging, and milling (SolsticeAK 2018). Anecdotal evidence also indicates that sea lions are common in Sitka Channel near the project footprint.

During Straley's surveys, Steller sea lions were often seen in groups of 2 to 3; however, a group of more than 100 was sighted on at least one occasion (Straley et al. 2018). Steller sea lions in groups ranging from 1 to 8 individuals were observed around Sitka GPIP dock construction. All Steller sea lions were alone in Sitka Channel during Petro Marine Dock construction monitoring (Windward. 2017). SolsticeAK (2018) observed a group of four sea lions on one day; however, most sea lions were alone during the September 208 monitoring period.

4.2.2.4 Hearing Ability

The ability to detect sound and communicate underwater is important for a variety of Steller sea lion life functions, including reproduction and predator avoidance. NMFS categorizes Steller sea lions in the otariid pinniped functional hearing group, with an applied frequency range between 60 Hz and 39 kHz in water (NMFS 2018). Studies of Steller sea lion auditory sensitivities have found that this species detects sounds underwater between 1 to 25 kHz (Kastelein et al. 2005), and in air between 250 Hz and 30 kHz (Muslow and Reichmuth 2010; Reichmuth and Southall 2011). For this project, sound from pile installation and extraction operations are anticipated to be within the hearing range of Steller sea lions.

4.2.2.5 Steller Sea Lion Critical Habitat

NMFS designated critical habitat for the Steller sea lion on August 27, 1993 (58 FR 45269). The project action area does not overlap Steller sea lion critical habitat. The Biorka Island haul out (over 20 km southwest of the proposed action area; Figure 13) is the closest designated critical habitat in Southeast, Alaska and is well outside the action area. The project will have **no effect on Steller sea lion critical habitat**.



Figure 13. Steller Sea Lion Critical Habitat in Southeast Alaska (Adapted from NMFS 2017c)

5 ENVIRONMENTAL BASELINE

The environmental baseline considers the past and present impacts of all Federal, state, or private actions and other human activities in the action area, the anticipated impacts of all proposed Federal projects in the action area that have already undergone formal or early Section 7 consultation, and the impact of state or private actions that are contemporaneous with the consultation in process (50 CFR § 402.02).

The project vicinity is an area of high human use and habitat alteration. Ongoing human activity in the action area that impacts marine mammals includes marine vessel activity, pollution, climate change, noise (e.g., aircraft, vessel, pile-driving, etc.), and coastal zone development.

5.1 PHYSICAL ENVIRONMENT

The Sitka Seaplane Base Project is located on the north shore of Japonski Island (1.467 square km) in the Sitka Channel near the Sitka Rocky Gutierrez Airport Terminal, a United States Coast Guard (USCG) Air Station, Mount Edgecumbe High School, Mt. Edgecumbe Medical Center, and the University of Alaska Southeast Sitka campus. Sitka Channel separates Japonski Island from Sitka Harbor and downtown Sitka on the much larger Baranof Island (4,160 square km). The mean tide range in the Sitka Channel is 7.7 feet, the diurnal tide range is 9.94 feet, and the extreme range is 18.98 feet (NOAA 2020a).

The Sitka Channel is located on the eastern shore of Sitka Sound, west of Crescent Bay and adjacent to Whiting Harbor. Sitka Channel is bookended by the Channel Rock Breakwaters to the north and the James O'Connell Bridge to the south, a distance of about 2,200 meters. Sitka Channel is approximately 150 feet wide and about 22 feet deep at its narrowest, which is on the east side of Harbor Rock of the breakwaters (NOAA 2020). USACE first constructed the breakwaters in 2007 with three distinct segments and two vessel entrances. Following a review in 2012, the opening between the south and main breakwaters was closed to reduce excessive wave energy in the channel harbors (USACE 2012).

The majority of the project footprint is previously undisturbed, but proximal to recent construction on the Channel Rock Breakwaters (approximately 500 feet). Currently there is no infrastructure or active development at the site. Facilities associated with the Mt. Edgecumbe Medical Center and the Southeast Alaska Regional Health Consortium (SEARHC) are immediately to the south of the project site. The USCG Air Station Sitka is located due west of the project site, beside the Sitka Rocky Gutierrez Airport Terminal.

The channel is characterized by multiple marine habitats that support a wide variety of fish and wildlife species. Habitats in the channel range from calm protected embayments to high energy wave-swept exposed coastlines. Much of the developed Sitka waterfront area has a rocky shoreline (USACE 2012). The seafloor in the channel contains a mosaic of bottom types including a mixed-soft bottom (mixture of silt, sand, pebbles, cobbles, boulders, and shell) and bedrock outcrops.

According to the ShoreZone Mapper (ShoreZone 2019), the shoreline at the proposed project site in Sitka Channel has the following characteristics:

- Habitat Class: protected/partially mobile/ sediment or rock and sediment; protected/mobile/sediment; semi-protected/partially mobile or rock and sediment; semi-protected/ anthropogenic permeable
- Coastal Class: ramp with gravel/sand beach; cliff with gravel/sand beach; sand and gravel flat fan; gravel beach, narrow; man-made permeable
- Biological Wave Exposure: protected; semi-protected; semi-exposed

5.2 FISH AND ESSENTIAL FISH HABITAT

The waters off the north shore of Japonski Island in Sitka Channel are designated as Essential Fish Habitat (EFH) under the Magnuson Stevens Fisheries and Conservation Management Act for 23 species of ground fish and all 5 species of Pacific salmon. These ground fish species include: Coho Salmon, Chum Salmon, Pink Salmon, Chinook Salmon, Sockeye Salmon, Aleutian Skate, Pacific Cod, Walleye Pollock, Shortspine Thornyhead Rockfish, Shortraker Rockfish, Pacific Ocean Perch, Redbanded Rockfish, Black Rockfish, Dusky Rockfish, Silvergrey Rockfish, Quillback Rockfish, Redstriped Rockfish, Rosethorn Rockfish, Sablefish, Yellow Irish Lord, Great Sculpin, Bigmouth Sculpin, Arrowtooth Flounder, Northern Rock Sole, Dover Sole, Yellowfin Sole, Alaska Plaice, and octopus (NMFS 2020b). Alaska Department of Fish and Game and NMFS have also identified Pacific herring and Pacific halibut as important in the project area (ADF&G 2019).

There are no anadromous streams that flow directly into the SPB site. The Alaska Department of Fish and Game Catalog of Waters Important for Spawning, Rearing, or Migration of Anadromous Fishes lists one anadromous stream that flows into the action area. Peterson Creek is anadromous (113-41-10185) for all five species of salmon and Dolly Varden and located along the eastern perimeter of the action area (ADF&G 2020a). Since the proposed project will be exclusively located in marine waters opposite Sitka Channel from Peterson Creek, direct impacts to the creek are not anticipated from this project. According to the NMFS EFH mapper, Sitka Channel does not have any designated Habitat Areas of Particular Concern.

5.3 MARINE VESSEL ACTIVITY

The action area experiences high levels of marine vessel traffic with highest volumes occurring May through September. Marine vessels that use the action area include passenger ferries, commercial freight vessels/barges, commercial tank barges, cruise ships, commercial fishing boats, charter vessels, recreational vessels, kayaks, and floatplanes (Nuka 2019). The Alaska Marine Highway operates year-round in Sitka with sailings multiple days a week and provides transit to numerous communities in Southeast Alaska, Washington state, and Canada.

The waters of the Inside Passage support marine cargo transportation. According automatic identification system passage-line data plots obtained from the Marine Exchange of Alaska, in 2011 1,489 vessels moved north or south between Alaska and British Columbia. The data show that 288 vessels moved east or west between the Dixon Entrance and the Pacific Ocean during

the year. Cargo ships calling at Prince Rupert dominated the east-west large vessel traffic. Cruise ships, tugs, and ferries dominated the north-south traffic (Nuka 2012). In 2018, 644 unique commercial vessels were working in or transiting through Southeast Alaska traveling 2,297,966 tracked nautical miles (Nuka 2019).

From analysis of 2018 vessel traffic in Southeast Alaska, Sitka had the second highest number of commercial vessel port calls (~1,800) following Ketchikan (Nuka 2019). The most common type of vessel traffic was cargo, followed by cruise ships. In 2018, 45.5 million pounds of cargo transited Sitka port totally \$61 million (NOAA 2020b).

Cruise ships are the largest vessels that routinely use the action area. After renovations to the Old Sitka Dock in 2018, Sitka can see two to three ships a day during peak traffic in the summer (May to September). Cruise ship traffic in Sitka peaked in 2008 with nearly 290,000 visitors (KCAW 2018) and saw the second highest number of visitors in 2019 after receiving 210,000 visitors during the cruise season (Alaska Public Media 2019).

Numerous commercial and charter fishing vessels and recreational craft, such as powerboats and sailboats, operate in the project vicinity. The CBS Harbor Department operates and maintains the following 5 boat harbors: Crescent Harbor, Sealing Cove Harbor, ANB Harbor, Thomsen Harbor and Eliason Harbor.

5.4 Fishery Interactions Including Entanglements

Marine mammal entanglement, or by-catch, is a documented source of injury and mortality to cetaceans, including humpback whales. The International Whaling Commission recently listed by-catch as a primary concern. Entanglement may result in only minor injury or may potentially significantly affect individual health, reproduction, or survival (NMFS 2019a, NMFS 2018a).

Entanglement in marine debris is a contributing factor to marine mammal injury and mortality. The sources of these entanglements are extensive and diverse. Actively-fished gear, marine debris, abandoned fishing gear, and non-fishery-related gear, and other gear types have been involved in marine animal entanglements. Other gear interactions with humpback whales in Alaska have occurred with purse seine fisheries, anchoring systems and mooring lines, and marine debris. Every year, humpback whales are reported entangled in fishing gear in Alaska, particularly crab and shrimp pot gear and gill net fishing gear (NMFS 2019a).

Entanglement is considered one of the primary causes of anthropogenic mortality in humpback whales (NMFS. 2016a). Bettridge et al. (2015) report that fishing gear entanglements may moderately reduce the population size or the growth rate of the Hawaii, Central America, and Mexico DPS. Between 2009 and 2013, there were two known mortalities of humpback whales in the Bering Sea/Aleutian Islands pollock trawl fishery and one in the Bering Sea/Aleutian Islands flatfish trawl fishery (Allen and Angliss. 2015). One humpback whale was also injured in the Hawaii shallow set longline fishery in 2011. Minimum estimated mean annual mortality to Western North Pacific humpback whales caused by entanglement from fishing gear was 0.8 whales for the period of 2011 to 2015. This number is greater than 10% of the potential biological removal (PBR) for this stock (3.0), and therefore, cannot be considered insignificant (Muto et al. 2016).

A substantial proportion of the materials entangling Steller sea lions in Southeast Alaska is from marine sources. Helker et al. (2017) found that Steller sea lions were the most common species reported in human-caused mortality and serious injury events between 2011 and 2015, and the Western DPS Steller sea lions were primarily subject to injuries caused by federal groundfish trawl fisheries (n=66). Constricting entanglements by marine debris and other fishery gear were a major contributing factor to human-caused mortality events. The average annual mortality and serious injury rate caused by U.S. commercial fisheries in 2011-2015 is 31 Western DPS Steller sea lions. As this is less than 10% of the PBR for the species calculated by Muto et al. (2019; PBR level = 320), this number can be considered insignificant. However, as not all fisheries are monitored, this number is likely a gross underestimation. Most entangling materials are unidentifiable because of being deeply embedded in the animal's flesh; however, when visible, the most commonly identified materials are plastic packing bands, rubber straps from crab pots, and various netting, ropes, and monofilament line (Raum-Suryan et al. 2017).

5.5 Pollution

The action area is not a water quality impaired water body according to the Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation (ADEC) water quality database and the water quality is expected to be good (ADEC 2020). A search of the ADEC contaminated sites database does not list any active or clean-up complete sites in the immediate action area (Figure 14). There are multiple contaminated sites near the action area, as well as cleanup complete and cleanup completeinstitutional control sites. The following sites are located on land near the vicinity of the project area (ADEC 2020a).

- Actively contaminated- SEARHC Mount Edgecumbe Building 211A; hazard ID 26823, approximately 100 meters outside the action area. Soil samples indicated that the amount of diesel range organics that are in the soil are above ADEC clean up range. There were also races of residual range organics. This site was added to the database on December 26, 2017.
- Cleanup complete-institutional controls-Sitka NOB-Area G-Igarotte Housing Area; hazard ID 25736, approximately 100 meters outside the action area. Soils were contaminated with petroleum and lead. An agreement of a follow up every five years has been settled for the site.
- Cleanup complete-Sitka NOB-Area H-Seaplane Dock; hazard ID 25737, approximately 100 meters outside the action area. Underground fuel lines and the tank truck loading rack were the main sources of soil contamination however the concentrations were not considered significant in reports for the site.



Figure 14. Alaska DEC Contaminated Sites Mapper (ADEC 2020a)

A number of intentional and accidental discharges of contaminants pollute the marine waters of Alaska annually. Intentional sources of pollution, including domestic, municipal, and industrial wastewater discharges, are managed and permitted by the ADEC (ADEC 2020b). Within the action area, there are ADEC-permitted seafood processing discharges associated with two seafood processing plants. Seafood Producers Cooperative Sitka Seafood Plant (onshore processor) within Sitka Channel, approximately 1.1 kilometers southeast from the project location and outside the action area, discharges 5.4 million gallons of fish processing waste annually (permit number AKG520101). North Pacific Seafoods Sitka Plant (onshore processor) within Sika Channel, approximately 1.3 kilometers southeast from the project location and outside the action area, discharges 4.1 million gallons of fish processing waste annually (permit number AKG520065).

Further, the CBS discharges treated community domestic wastewater approximately 2 kilometers southwest of the project site and outside the action area in Sitka Sound's Middle Channel (EPA 2001).

5.6 Climate and Ocean Regime Change

Since the 1950s the atmosphere and oceans have warmed, glaciers and sea ice have diminished, sea level has risen, and concentrations of greenhouse gases have increased. The time period between 1983 and 2012 was likely the warmest 30-year period in the Northern Hemisphere in the last 1,400 years. This warming is thought to lead to increased decadal and inter-annual variability and increases in extreme weather events (Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [IPCC] 2013; Mann et al. 2017). The likelihood of further global-scale changes in weather and climate events has a well-established scientific consensus (Overland and Wang 2007; IPCC 2013; Salinger et al. 2013).

Effects to marine ecosystems from increased atmospheric carbon dioxide and climate change include ocean acidification, expanded oligotrophic gyres, shifts in temperature, circulation, stratification, dangerous marine heatwaves, and disrupted nutrient input (IPCC 2019; Doney et al. 2012). Altered oceanic circulation and warming cause reduced subsurface oxygen concentrations (IPCC 2019; Keeling et al. 2010). These large-scale shifts have the potential to disrupt existing trophic pathways as change cascades from primary producers to top level predators (Doney et al. 2012; Salinger et al. 2013).

The strongest warming is expected in the Arctic, exceeding the estimate for mean global warming and attributed in part to the "ice-albedo feedback." The "ice-albedo feedback" is a positive feedback loop as reflective Arctic ice and snow retreats, surface albedo diminishes and the earth absorbs more heat, further accelerating warming and snow and ice retreat (NRC 2014, Thackeray and Hall 2019). Climate change is projected to have substantial direct and indirect effects on individuals, populations, species, and the structure and function of marine, coastal, and terrestrial ecosystems in the foreseeable future (NRC 2014).

Climate change may impact marine mammals through changes in the distribution of temperatures suitable for rearing young, the distribution and abundance of prey, and the distribution and abundance of competitors or predators. Salmon may lose habitat through thermal refuge, increase in the intensity of rainfall, and an increase in saltwater intrusion may affect rearing and deteriorate spawning habitats (Haufler et al. 2010; NMFS 2019b).

Shifts in ocean climate are the most parsimonious underlying explanation for the broad suite of ecosystem changes that have been observed in the North Pacific Ocean in recent decades (Trites et al. 2007; Miller et al. 2005). Changes in ocean climate are hypothesized to have affected the quantity, quality, and accessibility of prey, which in turn may impact populations of marine mammals, including humpback whales and Steller sea lions (Trites et al. 2007; Miller et al. 2005). Sea level rise has altered El Niño-Southern Oscillation, complex annual weather patterns in the Pacific Ocean, which also affects Steller sea lion and humpback whale prey abundance and geographic distribution. Additionally, sea level rise means that shallow islands are at risk of being submerged by rising waters which will affect active rookery and haul out sites for Steller sea lions (NMFS 2020c).

Increased ocean acidification has negatively impacted marine life and disrupts predator prey relationships. An oceanographer for NOAA's Pacific Marine Environmental Laboratory explained that waters in Southeast Alaska are naturally more acidic when compared to other areas due to glacial discharge (Juneau Empire 2019). Glacial runoff dilutes the water's alkalinity which enables the surface water to absorb carbon dioxide which decreases the pH in the water (NPS 2018). Another factor that naturally increases acidification is the marine dependent communities that are in the area (Juneau Empire 2019).

5.7 Coastal Zone Development

Coastal zone development results in the loss and alteration of nearshore marine mammal habitat and any changes in habitat quality. Increased development may prevent marine mammals from reaching or using important feeding, breeding, and resting areas. The shoreline in the immediate project area is primarily developed with impervious surfaces directly adjacent to the shoreline of the project footprint. Few areas of natural shoreline exist in the project site, mostly near the proposed upland parking area and haul out ramp. There is little opportunity for further development within in the community as the SPB is located between USCG Air Strip facility and SEARHC facilities.

5.8 IN-WATER NOISE

The project area is subject to noise from many anthropogenic sources, including marine vessels, seafood processing, shoreline and dock construction, aircraft, and land vehicles. Beyond Sitka Channel and the Channel Rock Breakwaters, the project action area extends into highly trafficked marine vessel routes in Sitka Sound.

6 EFFECTS OF THE ACTION

"Effects of the action" means the direct and indirect effects of an action on the species or critical habitat, together with the effects of other activities that are interrelated or interdependent with that action, that will be added to the environmental baseline (50 CFR 402.02). The effects from noise associated with pile driving and removal on the Mexico DPS of humpback whales and WDPS Steller sea lions are discussed below.

6.1 DIRECT EFFECTS

Direct effects defined under the ESA are immediate effects caused by the proposed action and occurring concurrently with the proposed action. Direct effects from the proposed action include noise associated with the removal of existing piles and construction of the new structures and operation of support vessels. Direct impacts such as physical destruction or alteration of habitat for humpback whales or Steller sea lions are not anticipated to occur from the Sitka SPB Project because the small project footprint and location in shallow water near the western extremity of the Channel Rock Breakwaters.

6.1.1 Acoustic Disturbance/Noise from Pile Extraction and Installation

Sounds above auditory thresholds may cause discomfort or tissue damage to auditory or other biological systems of all animals, including humans (National Institute of Health 2014). Marine

mammals exposed to high intensity sound repeatedly or for prolonged periods can experience hearing threshold shift (TS), which is the loss of hearing sensitivity at certain frequency ranges (Southall et al. 2007). A TS can be permanent, in which hearing sensitivity is not recoverable, or temporary, in which the animal's hearing threshold can recover over time (Southall et al. 2007).

Marine mammals depend on acoustic cues for vital biological functions (e.g., orientation, communication, finding prey, avoiding predators); thus, temporary threshold shifts (TTS) may reduce an afflicted animal's fitness in survival and reproduction. However, this depends on the frequency and duration of TTS, as well as the biological context in which disruption occurs (Kastak et al. 2005). A TTS of limited duration, occurring in a frequency range that does not coincide with those used for recognition of important acoustic cues, will have little to no effect on an animal's fitness. NMFS classifies TTS as disturbance (Level B) harassment because repeated TTS sound exposure could cause PTS, which constitutes a lasting injury, (Southall et al. 2007; NMFS 2018; Southall et al. 2019).

Direct impacts of noise to marine mammals depend not only on sound magnitude but also on the species receiving the sound, exposure type (e.g., continuous vs. pulse), duration, site characteristics, and individual animal characteristics such as habituation, season, or motivation (Ellison et al. 2012). Some of the in-water sound source levels from pile installation and removal from the proposed action will generate noise loud enough to harm or harass Mexico DPS humpback whales at certain distances. Possible impacts include injury and disturbance ranging from mild (e.g., startle response, or masking of species relevant sounds) to severe (e.g., abandonment of habitat). Disruptive ambient noise from increased vessel traffic is likely responsible for masking humpback whale communication with implications for vital life functions, including foraging success, calf rearing, and social behavior (Gabriele et al. 2018).

Auditory interference, or masking, occurs when an interfering noise is similar in frequency and loudness to (or louder than) the auditory signal received by an animal while it is processing echolocation signals or listening for acoustic information from other animals. Masking can interfere with an animal's ability to gather acoustic information about its environment, such as predators, prey, conspecifics, and other environmental cues (Francis and Barber 2013). The exact way that humpback whale prey is impacted by noise sources at various levels is not yet clear, but the available information is sufficient to indicate that underwater noise is posing a management concern for many fish and invertebrate species (Hawkins and Popper 2017).

The impacts of masking may be greater for cetaceans, which produce complex vocalizations for different purposes and across multiple modes, such as whistling, echolocation click production, calling, and singing. Exposure to anthropogenic noise may result in changes to cetacean vocalization behavior. For example, in the presence of potentially masking signals, humpback whales and killer whales have been observed to increase the length of their songs (Fristrup et al. 2003; Foote et al. 2004), while right whales have been observed to shift the frequency content of their calls upward while reducing the rate of calling in areas of increased anthropogenic noise (Parks et al. 2007).

. . .

The Sitka SPB Project construction activities could mask vocalizations or other important acoustic information. This could affect communication among individuals or affect their ability to receive information from their environment. However, the primary effects of project activities will occur in an industrialized channel, where masking from vessel sounds and dock activity likely occur frequently. Project activities contributing to masking in the surrounding environment will likely be very small relative to the existing conditions.

As explained in Section 3.3, the above-ambient sound of pile driving and removal is anticipated to radiate from the SPB into Sitka Channel and a narrow portion of Sitka Sound. All pile driving and removal associated with the project is estimated to occur for a total of 647 hours over 179 days (not necessarily consecutive days) (Section 3.3 and Table 4). Additionally, there are no documented Steller sea lion haulouts in the action area and uplands rock blasting will not exceed the Steller sea lion in-air noise threshold; therefore, in-air noise is not included in estimated takes. See estimated level B takes in Table 10 below.

| Table 10. Estimated Species Occurrence in Action Area | and Take Calculation |
|---|----------------------|
| | |

| Species | Estimated Number of Sightings per Day | Estimated Typical Group Size | Estimated Max Group Size | Level B Take Calculation |
|--------------------------------|--|------------------------------------|--------------------------------|--|
| Humpback Whale ¹ | Occasional | 1-2 | 4 | 2 animals per group x 0.5 group per day x 105 days=105 ² |
| Steller Sea Lion ³ | Daily | 4-8 | 8 | 8 animals per group x 1 group per day x 179 days=1432 |

¹ Most humpback whales observed in the area were solitary. Straley's survey data reports a typical group size of 2-4 whales (Straley et al 2018). During work on GPIP Dock, groups of 5 and 10 individuals were seen a few times, but most of the time, single whales were observed near the mouth of Silver Bay (Turnagain 2017).

² Only requesting level B takes during vibratory and DTH drilling/socketing pile driving (105 days).

³ During Straley's surveys, Steller sea lions were often seen in groups of 2 to solitary or in groups of 2; however, a group of more than 100 was sighted on at least one occasion (Straley et al. 2018). During GPIP dock construction, Steller sea lions were observed in groups of 1 to 8 individuals. During Petro Marine Dock construction monitors observed solitary sea lions (Windward 2017). During monitoring at the O'Connell Float SolsticeAK (2018) observed a group of four sea lions on one day; but most sea lions were solitary.

Given the estimate of 6² Mexico DPS humpback whales occurring within the action area during project activities, we anticipate any masking or acoustic effects to Mexico DPS humpbacks to be very small.

Approximately 2.2 percent of Steller sea lions in the project area are expected to be from the ESA-listed WDPS, or 32 takes (Hastings et al. 2019). Masking is likely less of a concern for Steller

² The CBS has requested Level B take of 105 humpback whales. Based on the probabilities described in Wade et al. 2016 (shown in Table 3), we anticipate that 6% (or 6) of the humpback whales in the action area will be from the Mexico DPS.

sea lions, which vocalize both in air and water and do not echolocate or communicate with complex underwater "songs." Vocalizing is important on land at rookeries and haul-out sites, and noise is considered a possible threat to Steller sea lions (NOAA 2019).

6.1.2 Turbidity/Sedimentation

During the estimated 647 hours of in-water project construction, a temporary and localized increase in turbidity near the seafloor will occur in the immediate area surrounding each of the piles driven and removed. Although prey species such as herring and salmon can congregate in Sitka Sound, the project site does not support a consistent abundance of prey for humpback whales or Steller sea lions. Thus, the temporary and localized turbidity associated with the berth expansion project is unlikely to measurably affect humpback whales or Steller sea lions, or their prey, in the action area.

6.1.3 Marine Vessel Activity

Tugs and barges will be used to deliver materials to the project site and will remain onsite during project construction. Additionally, a small skiff will be used for day-to-day project construction. After all piles are placed and the SPB is operational, overall vessel traffic in the action area is not expected to increase, but seaplane traffic is expected to be redistributed along a different route in Sitka Channel. There is the potential for some increase in seaplane traffic with improved and updated base facilities, but an increase in large vessels (like the yachts, fish processors, and research vessels) is not expected as a result of this project. Despite an increase in seaplane traffic, this project will provide more appropriate and safe space for operation and likely will reduce conflicts with marine mammals and overall vessel congestion in Sitka Channel. As a result of this project, marine mammals in the area will be exposed to some additional marine vessel traffic during construction, but not likely to encounter increased conflicts from SPB operation once the base is completed.

Vessels transiting the marine environment have the potential to collide with, or strike, marine mammals (Laist et al. 2001; Nielsen et al. 2012). As mentioned above, Sitka Sound is a mediumrisk area for humpback whale-vessel collisions and the probability of strike events depends largely on vessel speed (Laist et al. 2001). Vessels associated with the project will follow wellestablished, frequently utilized navigation lanes as they cross Sitka Sound and enter Eastern and Middle Channel and Sitka Channel, and they will be traveling at slow speeds. Humpback whales and sea lions in the action area have been previously exposed to ship traffic, and are unlikely to change their behavior in response to vessel traffic associated with this project.

Ongoing activities within the waters near the community of Sitka, including frequent vessel traffic, contribute to elevated background levels of underwater noise in the action area. Tugs and barges can emit significant noise levels, around 171-176 dB (Richardson et al. 1995; Kipple and Gabriele 2004). Marine mammals in the area are currently exposed to such sounds, yet they continue to use the waters. Given the transitory nature of vessels used for this project, any disturbance of a particular individual by a project-associated vessel will be very limited in space and time.

Vessel strikes of humpback whales is a general concern for the population. An examination of all known ship strikes for large (baleen and sperm) whales from all shipping sources indicates vessel speed is a principal factor in whether a vessel strike results in death (Laist et al. 2001; Vanderlaan and Taggart 2007). In assessing records with known vessel speeds, Laist et al. (2001) found a direct relationship between the occurrence of a whale strike and the speed of the vessel involved in the collision. The authors concluded that most deaths occurred when a vessel was traveling in excess of 14.9 miles per hours (mph) (13 knots).

Inside Sitka Channel is a no wake zone, requiring vessels to go 5 mph or slower however, outside the channel in Sitka Sound, ships may be travelling much faster (CBS 2020a). The largest ships usually travel at speeds between 23-27 miles per hour (20-24 knots).

This project will not increase marine vessel activity or the likelihood of accidental ship strikes, which may cause injury or mortality of marine species. There are no known Steller sea lion rookeries or haul outs near the action area (Figure 10) and sea lions are habituated to vessel traffic in this busy area; therefore, the chances of injury or stress due to increased vessel traffic associated with construction will be minimal.

Neilson et al. (2012) summarized 108 reported whale-vessel collisions in Alaska from 1978 to 2011, none of which were from seaplanes. Most strikes (86%) involved humpback whales. Small vessel strikes were most common (<15 meters, 60%), but medium (15–79 meters, 27%) and large (≥80 meters, 13%) vessels also struck humpback whales. Most strikes (91%) occurred in May through September, and there were no reports from December or January. The majority of strikes (76%) were reported in southeastern Alaska. The number of humpback whale collisions detected in Southeast Alaska increased by 5.8% annually from 1978 to 2011, which closely matches the 6.8% annual growth rate of the humpback whale population in southeastern Alaska between 1986 and 2008. The report identifies whale-vessel collision hotspots in southeastern Alaska and does not classify the action area or surrounding waters as areas where such hotspots occur. In August of 2017, the Princess Cruises Ship Grand Princess came into the port of Ketchikan with a humpback whale carcass on its bow, NOAA later performed a necropsy to determine the cause of death (NOAA 2017).

From 2007 to 2013, there were four documented cases of Steller sea lions killed or injured by vessel strikes in Alaska, none from seaplanes (NMFS 2020c). Vessel activity can disturb sea lions, instigating mass stampedes that can crush or injure smaller animals and disrupt normal nursing cycles in rookeries. Vessel traffic and associated noise can also disrupt feeding and other water activities (NMFS 2020c).

6.1.4 Pollution

Permitted and un-permitted sources have the potential to produce pollutants in the action area. Additionally, there is potential for an oil or pollution spill from activities associated with the project; however, the risk of spills and pollutants related to the project will be mitigated by implementing BMPs and policies to prevent accidental spills. If a spill were to occur, plans will

be in place, and materials will be available for cleanup activities. The probability of project effects to Mexico DPS humpback whales of Steller sea lions from accidental spills or other pollution sources is very small. We do not anticipate pollution to cause adverse effects to marine mammals in Sitka Channel or Sitka Sound, an area which represents a very small fraction of the range of Mexico DPS humpback whales and WDPS Steller sea lions.

6.1.5 Habitat Loss or Modification

Mexico DPS humpback whales and WDPS Steller sea lions could experience a temporary loss of suitable habitat in the action area if elevated noise levels associated with in-water construction results in their displacement from the area. Displacement of either mammal by noise will not be permanent and will not result long-term effects to the local population. A loss of habitat from the project is not anticipated because of the relatively small size of the project footprint and since there are no documented sightings of either mammal in the project footprint, only in the action area.

6.2 INDIRECT EFFECTS

Indirect effects defined under the ESA are effects from the proposed action that occur at a later time, but are still reasonably certain to occur. Indirect effects from the seaplane base includes impacts from noise on habitat.

6.2.1 Effects of Noise on Habitat

Fish populations in the project area that serve as Mexico DPS humpback whale and WDPS Steller sea lion prey could be affected by noise from in-water pile-driving. High underwater sound pressure levels (SPL) have been documented to alter behavior, cause hearing loss, and injure or kill individual fish by causing serious internal injury (Hastings and Popper 2005).

In general, impacts to marine mammal prey species are expected to be minor and temporary. The area likely impacted by the proposed project is relatively small compared to the available habitat around Sitka. The most likely impact to fish from the proposed project will be temporary behavioral avoidance of the immediate area. Any behavioral avoidance by fish of the immediate area will still leave large areas of fish and foraging habitat in the action area. Further, mitigation measures will be implemented to reduce impacts of noise on habitat. Therefore, indirect effects on Mexico DPS humpback whale or WDPS Steller sea lion prey during the proposed project are not expected to be substantial.

6.3 CUMULATIVE EFFECTS

"Cumulative effects" are those effects of future state, local, tribal, or private activities, not involving Federal activities, that are reasonably certain to occur within the action area (50 CFR § 402.02). Future Federal actions that are unrelated to the proposed action are not considered in this section because they require separate consultation pursuant to Section 7 of the ESA.

Reasonably foreseeable future activities within and immediately adjacent to the dock will likely involve the placement of fill, dredging, or structures in the area, requiring authorization from

the USACE and consultation pursuant to Section 7 of the ESA. Therefore, such activities do not meet the ESA definition of cumulative effects and are not addressed here.

7 Determination of Effect

The proposed Sitka SPB Project is likely to adversely affect the ESA-listed Mexico DPS humpback whales and WDPS Steller sea lions due to the noise associated with the pile-driving. Noise associated with the project may reach levels exposing Mexico DPS humpback whales and WDPS Steller sea lions to Level A and B harassment under the MMPA, and therefore, cannot be considered having insignificant or discountable effects on the species. However, mitigation measures described in Section 3.5 will be implemented throughout the duration of the project to reduce exposure to noise associated with the pile-driving. These mitigation measures include minimization of construction noise, marine mammal monitoring, safety radii, clearing the safety radii, soft-starts procedures, and shut-down procedures to eliminate any Level A takes and minimize Level B takes. An IHA for Level B take for the proposed project will be submitted for take of marine mammals including Mexico DPS humpback whales and WDPS Steller sea lions to NMFS Office of Protected Resources and construction of the project will not begin until the IHA is approved.

8 **REFERENCES**

- Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation (ADEC). 2020. Alaska DEC Water Quality Map. Accessed 6/4/2020 from https://dec.alaska.gov/water/water-quality/map/.
- ADEC. 2020a. Alaska DEC Division of Spill Prevention and Response Contaminated Sites. Contaminated Sites Map. Accessed 6/4/2020 from https://www.arcgis.com/home/webmap/viewer.html?webmap=315240bfbaf84aa0b8272a d1cef3cad3
- ADEC. 2020b. Alaska Seafood Processing Discharge Map. Accessed 6/4/2020 from https://www.arcgis.com/home/item.html?id=d686c1f3c1e54e7c910a55ca8c9f15b2.
- Alaska Department of Fish and Game (ADF&G). 2020. ADF&G Wildlife Notebook Series: Sperm Whale. Text by King. http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/education/wns/sperm_whale.pdf.
- ADF&G. 2020a. Alaska Fish Resource Monitor Mapper. Accessed 5/16/2020 from https://adfg.maps.arcgis.com/apps/MapSeries/index.html?appid=a05883caa7ef4f7ba17c9 9274f2c198f.
- ADF&G. 2019. Letter Re: Proposed Sitka Seaplane Base Environmental Assessment Scoping Comments.
- ADF&G. 2008. Alaska Wildlife Notebook Series Fin Whale. Accessed 6/1/2020 from http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/education/wns/fin_whale.pdf.
- AirNav. 2020. Sitka Seaplane Base FAA Information. Accessed 5/12/2020 from https://www.airnav.com/airport/A29.
- Alaska Public Media. 2019. Cruise boom brings more business to Sitka but strains some local attractions. Accessed 6/3/2020 from https://www.alaskapublic.org/2019/10/14/cruise-boom-brings-more-business-to-sitka-but-strains-some-local-attractions/.
- Allen, A., and R. Angliss. 2015. Alaska marine mammal stock assessments, 2015. NOAA Tech Memo. NMFS-AFSC-301, 304 p. Accessed 6/2/2020 from http://dx.doi.org/10.7289/V5NS0RTS>.
- American National Standards Institute (ANSI). 2013. American National Standards Institute Standards. Accessed June 2, 2020 from https://www.ansi.org/.
- Au, W., A. Pack, M. Lammers, L. Herman, M. Deakos and K. Andrews. 2006. Acoustic properties of humpback whale songs. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 120:1103-1110.
- Austin, M., S. Denes, J. MacDonnell, and G. Warner. 2016. Hydroacoustic Monitoring Report: Anchorage Port Modernization Project Test Pile Program. Version 3.0. Technical report by JASCO Applied Sciences for Kiewit Infrastructure West Co.
- Barlow, J., J. Calambokidis, E. Falcone, C. Baker, A. Burdin, P. Clapham, J. Ford, E. Gabriele, R. LeDuc, D. Mattila, T. Quinn, L. Rojas-Bracho, J. Straley, B. Taylor, J. Urban, P. Wade, D. Weller, B. Witteveen, and M. Yamaguchi. 2011. Humpback whale abundance in the North Pacific estimated by photographic capture recapture with bias correction from simulation studies. Marine Mammal Science 27:793818.
- Bettridge, S., C. Baker, J. Barlow, P. Clapham, M. Ford, D. Gouveia, D. Mattila, R. Pace, III, P.
 Rosel, G. Silber, and P. Wade. 2015. Status review of the humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) under the Endangered Species Act. U.S. Dep. Commer., NOAA Tech. Memo.
 NMFSSWFSC-540, 240 pp.

- Burkanov, V. N., and T. R. Loughlin. 2005. Distribution and abundance of Steller sea lions, Eumetopias jubatus, on the Asian coast, 1720's-2005. Marine Fisheries Review 67(2):1-62.
- Calambokidis, J., E. Falcone, T. Quinn, A. Burdin, P. Clapham, J. Ford, C. Gabriele, R. LeDuc, D. Mattila, and L. Rojas-Bracho. 2008. SPLASH: Structure of populations, levels of abundance and status of humpback whales in the North Pacific. Unpublished report submitted by Cascadia Research Collective to USDOC, Seattle, WA under contract AB133F-03-RP-0078.
- California Department of Transportation. 2015. Technical Guidance for Assessment and Mitigation of Hydroacoustic Effects of Pile Driving on Fish. November 2015.
- Chenoweth, E.M., J.M. Straley, M.V. McPhee, S. Akinson, and S. Reifenstuhl. 2017. Humpback whales feed on hatchery-released juvenile salmon. Royal Society Open Science 4(7). https://doi.org/10.1098/rsos.170180
- City and Borough of Sitka (CBS). 2020. Travel and Transportation. Accessed May 11, 2020 from https://www.cityofsitka.com/visitors/travel/index.html.
- CBS. 2020a. City and Borough of Sitka Harbor Department. Accessed: September 26, 2020 cityofsitka.com/government/departments/harbor/index.html
- CBS. 2019. City and Borough of Sitka Harbor Department. Accessed: September 26, 2020 cityofsitka.com/government/departments/harbor/index.html.CBS. 2019. City and Borough Assembly Minutes – August 27, 2019. Accessed May 11, 2020 from http://sitka.granicus.com/player/clip/420?view_id=1.
- CBS. 2018. Sitka Comprehensive Plan 2030 Technical Plan. Accessed 5/14/2020 from http://www.cityofsitka.com/government/departments/planning/documents/TechnicalPlan Draft8Feb2018.pdf.
- Clark, C. and W. Ellison. 2004. Potential use of low-frequency sounds by baleen whales for probing the environment: Evidence from models and empirical measurements. Pages 564-589 in J.A. Thomas, C.F. Moss and M. Vater, eds. Echolocation in Bats and Dolphins. University of Chicago Press, Chicago, IL.
- DeMaster, D. 2014. Results of Steller sea lion surveys in Alaska, June-July 2013. Memorandum to J. Balsiger, J. Kurland, B. Gerke, and L. Rotterman, January 30, 2014. Available AFSC, Marine Mammal Laboratory, NOAA, NMFS 7600 Sand Point Way NE, Seattle WA 98115.
- Denes, S., Vallarta, J., and D. Zeddies 2019. Sound Source Characterization of Down-the-Hole Hammering: Thimble Shoal, Virginia. Document 001888, Version 2.0. Technical report by JASCO Applied Sciences for Chesapeake Tunnel Joint Venture. Accessed 11/20/2020 from https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/action/incidental-take-authorization-chesapeake-tunneljoint-venture-parallel-thimble-shoal-0.
- Denes, S.L., G.J. Warner, M.E. Austin and A.O. MacGillivray. 2016. Hydroacoustic Pile Driving Noise Study - Comprehensive Report. Document 001285, Version 2.0. Technical report by JASCO Applied Sciences for Alaska Department of Transportation and Public Facilities.
- Doney, S., M. Ruckelshaus, J. Duffy, J. Barry, F. Chan, C. English, H. Galindo, J. Grebmeier, A. Hollowed, N. Knowlton, J. Polovina, N. Rabalais, W. Sydeman, and L. Talley. 2012. Climate change impacts on marine ecosystems. Pages 11-37 in C. A. Carlson, and S. J. Giovannoni, editors. Annual Review of Marine Science, Vol 4.
- DOWL. 2016. Sitting Analysis Sitka Seaplane Base. Prepared for CBS. Accessed 5/12/2020 from https://www.cityofsitka.com/government/departments/publicworks/documents/SitkaSitin gAnalysis.FINALDRAFT.pdf.

DOWL HKM. 2012. Sitting Analysis Sitka Seaplane Base. Prepared for CBS. Accessed 5/12/2020 from

https://www.cityofsitka.com/government/departments/publicworks/documents/D60581. DraftSitingAnalysis.MDM.061812.tlaStd.pdf.

- Earthpoint. 2020. Township and Range Public Land Survey System on Google Earth. Accessed 5/12/2020 from http://www.earthpoint.us/Townships.aspx.
- Edds-Walton, P. 1997. AcADFoustic communication signals of Mysticete whales. Bioacoustics 8:47-60.
- Ellison, W. T., B. L. Southall, C. W. Clark, and A. S. Frankel. 2012. A new context-based approach to assess marine mammal behavioral responses to anthropogenic sounds. Conservation Biology 26:21-28.
- Foote, A., R. Osborne, and A. Hoelzel. 2004. Whale-call response to masking boat noise. Nature 428:910.
- Francis, C. D., and J. R. Barber. 2013. A framework for understanding noise impacts on wildlife: An urgent conservation priority. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 11:305-313.
- Fristrup, K., L. Hatch, and C. Clark. 2003. Variation in humpback whale (Megaptera novaeangliae) song length in relation to low-frequency sound broadcasts. J.Acous. Soc. Amer. 113 (6):3411-3424.
- Fritz, L., K. Sweeney, D. Johnson, M. Lynn, and J. Gilpatrick. 2013. Aerial and ship-based surveys of Steller sea lions (Eumetopias jubatus) conducted in Alaska in June-July 2008 through 2012, and an update on the status and trend of the western stock in Alaska. U.S. Dep. Commer., NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-AFSC251, 91 p.
- Gabriele CM, Ponirakis DW, Clark CW, Womble JN and Vanselow PBS. 2018. Underwater Acoustic Ecology Metrics in an Alaska Marine Protected Area Reveal Marine Mammal Communication Masking and Management Alternatives. Front. Mar. Sci. 5:270. Accessed 6/2/2020 from https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fmars.2018.00270/full.
- Guan, S. and Miner, R. 2020. Underwater noise characterization of down-the-hole pile driving activities off Biorka Island, Alaska, Marine Pollution Bulletin, Volume 160.
- Hastings, K. et al. 2019. Demographic consequences and characteristics of recent population mixing and colonization in Steller sea lions, Eumetopias jubatus, Journal of Mammalogy, Volume 101, Issue 1, 21 February 2020, Pages 107–120, https://doi.org/10.1093/jmammal/gyz192.
- Hastings, M. and A. Popper. 2005. Effects of sound on fish. Technical report for Jones and Stokes to California Department of Transportation.
- Haufler, J.B., C.A. Mehl, and S. Yeats. 2010. Climate change: anticipated effects on ecosystem services and potential actions by the Alaska Region, U.S. Forest Service. Ecosystem Management Research Institute, Seeley Lake, Montana, USA.
- Hawkins, A.D. and A. N. Popper. 2017. A sound approach to assessing the impact of underwater noise on marine fishes and invertebrates. ICES Journal of Marine Science 74: 635–651.
- HDR Alaska, Inc. 2017. Gravina Access Project Record of Decision and Final Supplemental Environmental Impact Statement DOT&PF Project No: 67698 Federal Project No: ACHP-0922(5). Prepared for the Alaska Department of Transportation and Public Facilities by HDR. As Accessed 6/2/2020 from

http://dot.alaska.gov/sereg/projects/gravina_access/index.shtml.

HDR Alaska, Inc. 2002. Sitka Seaplane Base Master Plan. Prepared for CBS. Accessed 5/12/2020 from

https://www.cityofsitka.com/government/departments/publicworks/documents/SitkaSea planeBaseMasterPlan-HDR2002.pdf.

- HDR Inc. 2012. Naval Base Kitsap at Bangor Test Pile Program, Bangor, Washington. Final Marine Mammal Monitoring Report. Prepared for Naval Facilities Engineering Northwest, Silverdale, WA. Accessed 11/20/2020 from http://jeffersoncotreis.info/PDF%20Files/3.07%20Threatend%20&%20Endangered%20References/Illingwort h%20and%20Rodkin%20navy kitsap monitoring report%202012.pdf.
- Helker, V. T., M. M. Muto, K. Savage, S. Teerlink, L. A. Jemison, K. Wilkinson, and J. Jannot.
 2017. Human-caused mortality and injury of NMFS-managed Alaska marine mammal stocks, 2011-2015. U.S. Dep. Commer., NOAA Tech. Memo. NMFS-AFSC-354, 112 p.
- Houser, D., D. Helweg, and P. Moore. 2001. A Bandpass filter-bank model of auditory sensitivity in the humpback whale. Aquatic Mammals 27(2): 82-91.
- Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC). 2019: Technical Summary in IPCC Special Report on the Ocean and Cryosphere in a Changing Climate [H.- O. Pörtner, D.C. Roberts, V. Masson-Delmotte, P. Zhai, M. Tignor, E. Poloczanska, K. Mintenbeck, A. Alegría, M. Nicolai, A. Okem, J. Petzold, B. Rama, N.M. Weyer (eds.)]. Accessed 6/2/2020 from https://www.ipcc.ch/srocc/chapter/technical-summary/.
- IPCC. 2013. Summary for policymakers. In: Climate Change 2013: The physical science basis. Cambridge University Press.
- Jemison, L. A., G. W. Pendleton, L. W. Fritz, K. K. Hastings, J. M. Maniscalco, A. W. Trites, and T. S. Gelatt. 2013. Inter-population movements of Steller sea lions in Alaska with implications for population separation. PLoS ONE 8:e70167.
- Juneau Empire. 2019. Scientists: Southeast Alaska vulnerable to ocean acidification. Accessed 6/3/2020 from https://www.juneauempire.com/news/scientists-southeast-alaska-vulnerable-to-ocean-acidification/.
- Kastak, D., B. Southall, R. Schusterman, and C. Kastak. 2005. Underwater temporary threshold shift in pinnipeds: Effects of noise level and duration. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 118:3154-3163.
- Kastelein, R.A., R. van Schie, W. Verboom, and D. Haan. 2005. Underwater hearing sensitivity of a male and a female Steller sea lion (Eumetopias jubatus). Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 118:1820-1829.
- KCAW, Sitka. 2018. Infrastructure lacking as Sitka's cruise numbers rebound. Accessed 6/3/2020 from https://www.kcaw.org/2018/05/11/infrastructure-lacking-as-sitkas-cruisenumbers-rebound/.
- Keeling, R. F., A. Körtzinger, and N. Gruber. 2010. Ocean deoxygenation in a warming world. Annual Review of Marine Science 2:199-229.
- Ketten, D.R. 1997. Structure and function in whale ears. Bioacoustics 8:103-137.
- Kipple, B. and C. Gabriele. 2004. Glacier Bay Watercraft Noise Noise Characterization for Tour, Charter, Private, and Government Vessels. Naval Surface Warfare Center – Carderock Division. NSWCCD-71-TR-2004/545. 45 pp. Accessed 6/1/2020 from https://www.nps.gov/glba/learn/nature/upload/Kipple_Gabriele2004GBWatercraftNoiseR pt.pdf.

- Laist, D., A. Knowlton, J. Mead, A. Collet, and M. Podesta. 2001. Collisions between ships and whales. Marine Mammal Sci. 17(1): 35-75.
- Laughlin, J. 2010. Airborne Noise Measurements (A-weighted and un-weighted) during Vibratory Pile Installation - Technical Memorandum. Washington State Department of Transportation Memo from Jim Laughlin to Sharon Rainsberry.
- Loughlin, T. R., D. J. Rugh, and C.H. Fiscus 1984. Northern sea lion distribution and abundance: 1956-80. The Journal of wildlife management, 729-740.
- Mann, M., Rahmstorf, S., Kornhuber, K. et al. 2017. Influence of Anthropogenic Climate Change on Planetary Wave Resonance and Extreme Weather Events. In Nature Scientific Reports. Accessed 6/3/2020 from

https://www.nature.com/articles/srep45242?iu=&iap=false&exception=true&cust_params =.

- Mellinger, D. K., K. M. Stafford, and C. G. Fox. 2004. Seasonal Occurrence of Sperm Whale (Physeter macrocephalus) Sounds in the Gulf of Alaska, 1999–2001. Mar. Mamm. Sci. 20:48–62.
- Merrick, R. L., and T.R. Loughlin. 1997. Foraging behavior of adult female and young-of-the-year Steller sea lions in Alaskan waters. Canadian Journal of Zoology, 75(5):776-786.
- Miller, A. J., A. W. Trites, and H. D. G. Maschner, 2005: Ocean climate changes and the Steller sea lion decline. Antarct. Res. USA, 19, 54–63.
- Mulsow, J., and C. Reichmuth. 2010. Psychophysical and electrophysiological aerial audiograms of a Steller sea lion (Eumetopias jubatus) a. The Journal of the Acoustical Society of America, 127(4):2692-2701.
- Muto, M., et al. 2020. Alaska Marine Mammal Stock Assessments, revised August 14, 2020. Accessed April 1, 2021 from https://s3.amazonaws.com/media.fisheries.noaa.gov/2020-12/Draft%202020%20Alaska-

marine%20mammal%20stock%20assessment%20reports.pdf?null.

- Muto, M. M., V. T. Helker, R. P. Angliss, P. L. Boveng, J. M. Breiwick, M. F. Cameron, P. J. Clapham, S. P. Dahle, M. E. Dahlheim, B. S. Fadely, M. C. Ferguson, L. W. Fritz, R. C. Hobbs, Y. V. Ivashchenko, A. S. Kennedy, J. M. London, S. A. Mizroch, R. R. Ream, E. L. Richmond, K. E. W. Shelden, K. L. Sweeney, R. G. Towell, P. R. Wade, J. M. Waite, and A. N. Zerbini. 2019. Alaska Marine Mammal Stock Assessments, 2018. Accessed 6/6/2020 from https://repository.library.noaa.gov/view/noaa/20606/noaa 20606 DS1.pdf.
- Muto M., V. T. Helker, R. P. Angliss, B. A. Allen, P. L. Boveng, J. M. Breiwick, M. F. Cameron, P. J. Clapham, S. P. Dahle, M. E. Dahlheim, B. S. Fadely, M. C. Ferguson, L. W. Fritz, R. C. Hobbs, Y. V. Ivashchenko, A. S. Kennedy, J. M. London, S. A. Mizroch, R. R. Ream, E. L. Richmond, K. E. W. Shelden, R. G. Towell, P. R. Wade, J. M. Waite, and A. N. Zerbini. 2016. Humpback Whale (Megaptera novaeangliea): Central North Pacific Stock. pp 196-207 in: Alaska marine mammal stock assessments, revised December 30, 2015.
- Muto, M. et al. 2016a. Steller Sea Lion (Eumetopias jubatus): Western U.S. Stock. pp 1-14 in: Alaska marine mammal stock assessments, Draft, revised September 12, 2016.
- National Institutes of Health. 2014. Noise-Induced Hearing Loss. NIH Pub. No. 99-4233 March 2014, Reprinted December 2014. 4 pp. Accessed 6/2/2020 from https://www.nidcd.nih.gov/sites/default/files/Documents/health/hearing/NIDCD-NoiseInduced-Hearing-Loss.pdf.
National Marine Fisheries Service (NMFS). 2020. Alaska Endangered Species and Critical Habitat Mapper Web Application. Accessed May 13, 2020 from

https://alaskafisheries.noaa.gov/portal/apps/webappviewer/index.html.

- NMFS. 2020a. Sperm Whale (*Physeter macrocephalus*). NOAA Fisheries Alaska Regional Office Protected Resources Species Page. Accessed 6/2/2020 from https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/species/sperm-whale.
- NMFS. 2020b. Habitat Conservation Essential Fish Habitat Mapper. Accessed 5/12/2020 from https://www.habitat.noaa.gov/application/efhmapper/index.html.
- NMFS. 2020c. Species Directory: Steller Sea Lion. Accessed 6/2/2020 from https://repository.library.noaa.gov/view/noaa/21154.
- NMFS. 2019. Draft Biological Report for the Proposed Designation of Critical Habitat for the Central America, Mexico, and Western North Pacific Distinct Population Segments of Humpback Whales (Megaptera novaeangliae). Accessed 10/1/2020 https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/webdam/download/97742469.
- NMFS. 2019a. Humpback Whale (*Megaptera novaeangliae*): Central North Pacific Stock Assessment 2019. Accessed 10/20/2020 from

https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/webdam/download/109236067.

- NMFS. 2019b. West Coast Salmon Vulnerable to Climate Change, but Some Show Resilience to Shifting Environment. Accessed 6/2/2020 from https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/feature-story/west-coast-salmon-vulnerable-climate-change-some-show-resilience-shifting-environment.
- NMFS. 2018. 2018 Revisions to: Technical Guidance for Assessing the Effects of Anthropogenic Sound on Marine Mammal Hearing (Version 2.0): Underwater Thresholds for Onset of Permanent and Temporary Threshold Shifts. U.S. Dept. of Commer., NOAA. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-OPR-59, 167 p. Accessed 6/4/2020 from https://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/resource/document/technical-guidance-assessing-effectsanthropogenic-sound-marine-mammal-hearing.
- NMFS. 2018a. Humpback Whales. Large Whale Entanglements. Alaska Regional Office webpage. Accessed 6/4/2020 from https://alaskafisheries.noaa.gov/pr/entanglementwhales>
- NMFS. 2017. Endangered Species Act Section 7(a)(2) Biological Opinion. NMFS Consultation No: AKR-2017-9686. City and Borough of Sitka Gary Paxton Industrial Park Multipurpose Dock Project Sawmill Cove, Sitka, Alaska. September 29, 2017.
- NMFS. 2017a. Endangered Species Act (ESA) Section 7(a)(2) Biological Opinion. Kodiak Transient Float Construction. NMFS Consultation Number: AKR-2016-9596. Issued by J. W. Balsiger Regional Administrator dated 2/7/17.
- NMFS. 2017b. Steller Sea Lion Critical Habitat. NOAA Fisheries Alaska Regional Office Protected Resources Species Page. https://alaskafisheries.noaa.gov/pr/ssl-critical-habitat.
- NMFS. 2017c. Map of the generalized range of the Steller sea lion showing the division between the two distinct population segments. D. Seagars, NOAA Fisheries AKR https://alaskafisheries.noaa.gov/sites/default/files/range_lrg.jpg.
- NMFS. 2016. Technical Guidance for Assessing the Effects of Anthropogenic Sound on Marine Mammal Hearing: Underwater Acoustic Thresholds for Onset of Permanent and Temporary Threshold Shifts. U.S. Dept. of Commerce., NOAA. NOAA Technical Memorandum NMFS-

OPR-55, 178 p. Accessed 5/24/2020 from

https://alaskafisheries.noaa.gov/sites/default/files/se_ssl_ch.pdf.

NMFS. 2016a. Occurrence of Distinct Population Segments (DPSs) of Humpback Whales off Alaska. National Marine Fisheries Service, Alaska Region. Revised December 12, 2016. Accessed 5/24/2020 from

https://alaskafisheries.noaa.gov/sites/default/files/humpback_guidance.pdf.

NMFS. 2015. Fin Whale (Balaenoptera physalus). NOAA Fisheries Protected Resources Species Page. Accessed 5/24/2020 from

http://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/pr/species/mammals/whales/fin-whale.html.

NMFS. 2015a. North Pacific Right Whale (Eubalaena japonica). NOAA Fisheries Protected Resources Species Page. Accessed 5/24/2020 from

http://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/pr/species/mammals/whales/north-pacific-right-whale.html.

NMFS. 2015b. Alaska Fisheries Science Center. Search for Rare and Critically Endangered North Pacific Right Whale Begins First Dedicated Survey in Gulf of Alaska in More than a Decade. August 10, 2015. Accessed 5/24/2020 from

https://www.afsc.noaa.gov/news/right_whale_cruise.htm.

NMFS. 2013. Occurrence of western distinct population segment Steller sea lions East of 144°
 W. longitude. NOAA, National Marine Fisheries Service, Alaska Region, Juneau, AK. 3 pp.
 Accessed 5/24/2020 from

https://alaskafisheries.noaa.gov/sites/default/files/wdps_sect7guidance1213final.pdf.

- NMFS. 2010. Recovery Plan for the Sperm Whale (Physeter macrocephalus). National Marine Fisheries Service, Silver Spring, MD. 165pp.
- NMFS. 2008. Recovery plan for the Steller sea lion (Eumetopias jubatus). Revision (Original 1992). National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration, National Marine Fisheries Service, Office of Protected Resources, Silver Spring, Maryland. 325+ pp.
- NMFS. 2007. NMFS Office of Protected Resources October 2007. North Pacific Right Whale Critical Habitat Map. Accessed 5/24/2020 from

http://www.fisheries.noaa.gov/pr/pdfs/criticalhabitat/northpacificrightwhale.pdf.

- National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration (NOAA). 2020. U.S. Coast Pilot 8, Chapter 12. 307-325 p. Accessed 5/28/2020 from https://nauticalcharts.noaa.gov/publications/coast-pilot/files/cp8/CPB8_C12_WEB.pdf.
- NOAA. 2020a. Tides and Currents: Sitka, AK. Accessed 5/28/2020 from https://tidesandcurrents.noaa.gov/stationhome.html?id=9451600.
- NOAA. 2020b. Top US Ports. Accessed 6/5/2020 from

https://foss.nmfs.noaa.gov/apexfoss/f?p=215:11:::NO:::.

- NOAA. 2019. Steller Sea Lion Thirty Year Review. Accessed 6/4/2020 from https://repository.library.noaa.gov/view/noaa/21154.
- NOAA. 2017. NOAA Statement on Ketchikan humpback whale. August 9, 2017. Allyson Rogers, 301-427-8255. Accessed 6/1/2020 from https://alaskafisheries.noaa.gov/node/56874.
- National Park Service. 2018. Ocean Acidification in Glacier Bay. Accessed 6/4/2020 from https://www.nps.gov/articles/oceanacidificationinglacierbay.htm.
- National Research Council (NRC). 2014. Climate Change Impacts in the United States. Accessed 6/4/2020 from https://www.nrc.gov/docs/ML1412/ML14129A233.pdf.

- NRC. 2012. Climate change: evidence, impacts, and choices. Answers to common questions about the science of climate change. National Academy of Sciences.
- Neilson, J.L., C. Gabriele, A. Jensen, K. Jackson, and J. Straley. 2012. Summary of Reported Whale-Vessel Collisions in Alaskan Waters. Journal of Marine Biology, vol. 2012, Article ID 106282, 18 pages, 2012. doi:10.1155/2012/106282.
- Nuka Research and Planning Group (Nuka). 2019. Southeast Alaska Vessel Risk Analysis Report to Alaska Department of Environmental Conservation October 2019. Accessed 10/20/2020 from https://dec.alaska.gov/media/20765/191030-seak-vessel-traffic-risk-analysisfinal.pdf.
- Nuka. 2012. Southeast Alaska Vessel Traffic Study. Revision 1. https://dec.alaska.gov/spar/ppr/docs/Southeast%20Alaska%20Vessel%20Traffic%20Study. pdf.
- Overland, J. E., and M. Wang. 2007. Future climate of the North Pacific Ocean. Eos, Transactions American Geophysical Union 88:178-182.
- Panigada, S., G.N. Di Sciara, M.Z. Panigada, S. Airboldi, J.F. Borsani and M. Jahoda. 2005. Fin whales (Balaenoptera physalus) summering in the Ligurian Sea: distribution, encounter rate, mean group size and relation to physiographic variables. J. Cetacean Res. Mgt. 7(2): 137-145.
- Parks, S., C. Clark, and P. Tyack. 2007. Short- and long-term changes in right whale calling behavior: The potential effects of noise on acoustic communication. Journal of the Acoustical Society of America 122 (6):3725-3731.
- Pitcher, K. W. 1981. Prey of the Steller sea lion, Eumetopias jubatus, in the Gulf of Alaska. Fishery Bulletin 79:467-472.
- Pitcher, K. W., and F. H. Fay. 1982. Feeding by Steller sea lions on harbor seals 70-71.
- Raum-Suryan, K., L. Jemison, K. Savage, and M. Rehberg. 2017. Partnership for success: Steller sea lion disentanglement, post-release monitoring, and global collaboration [abstract]. Accessed 6/8/2020 from

http://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/home/library/pdfs/wildlife/research_pdfs/partnership_ success_steller_sea_lion_disentanglement_release_monitoring_global.pdf

- Reichmuth, C., and B.L. Southall. 2012. Underwater hearing in California sea lions (Zalophus californianus): expansion and interpretation of existing data. Marine Mammal Science, 28(2):358-363.
- Richardson, W., C. Greene, Jr., C. Malme, and D. Thomson. 1995. Marine mammals and noise. Academic Press, Inc., San Diego, CA.
- Salinger, M. J., J. D. Bell, K. Evans, A. J. Hobday, V. Allain, K. Brander, P. Dexter, D. E. Harrison, A. B. Hollowed, B. Lee, and R. Stefanski. 2013. Climate and oceanic fisheries: recent observations and projections and future needs. Climatic Change 119:213-221.
- ShoreZone 2020. Unit ID: 12/01/0057/0. Accessed 5/14/2020 from
 - http://www.shorezone.org/use-shorezone.
- Solstice Alaska Consulting, Inc (SolsticeAK). 2018. Marine Mammal Observations from O'Connell Bridge Lightering Float in September 2018.
- SolsticeAK. 2018a. O'Connell Bridge Lightering Float Project Teleconference. August 9, 2018. Comment from NMFS AK representative Suzie Teerlink that up to half of the Steller sea lions in the project vicinity could be from the Western DPS.

Southeast Earthmovers, Inc. 2020. Japonski Seaplane Base Excavation Blast Plan.

- Southall, B., et al. 2019. Marine Mammal Noise Exposure Criteria: Updated Scientific Recommendations for Residual Hearing Effects. Aquatic Mammals 45(2): 125-232. https://sea-inc.net/wp-content/uploads/2019/10/Southall-et-al_2019_MM-Noise-critieriaupdate-with-errata_Aq-Mammals.pdf
- Southall, B., A. Bowles, W. Ellison, J. Finneran, R. Gentry, C. Greene, Jr., D. Kastak, D. Ketten, J.
 Miller, P. Nachtigall, W. Richardson, J. Thomas, and P. Tyack. 2007. Marine mammal noise exposure criteria: initial scientific recommendations. Aquatic Mammals 33:411-521.
- Straley, J. M., J. R. Moran, K. M. Boswell, J. J. Vollenweider, R. A. Heintz, T. J. Quinn Ii, B. H. Witteveen, and S. D. Rice. 2018. Seasonal presence and potential influence of humpback whales on 130 Draft Biological Report Humpback Whale Critical Habitat wintering Pacific herring populations in the Gulf of Alaska. Deep Sea Research Part II: Topical Studies in Oceanography 147:173-186.
- Straley, J.M., J.R. Moran, K.M. Boswell, J.J. Vollenweider, R.A Heintz, T.J. Quinn, B.H. Witteveen, S.D. Rice. 2017. Seasonal presence and potential influence of humpback whales on wintering Pacific herring populations in the Gulf of Alaska. Accessed 5/24/2020 from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0967064516303174.
- Straley, Jan and Katy Pendell. 2017. Marine Mammal Report-Silver Bay Project. J. Straley Investigations PO Box 273 Sitka, AK 99835.
- Thackeray, CW and Hall, A. 2019. A. An emergent constraint on future Arctic sea-ice albedo feedback. Nature Climate Change. Accessed 6/1/2020 from https://www.nature.com/articles/s41558-019-0619-1.
- Trites, A. W., A. J. Miller, H. D. G. Maschner, M. A. Alexander, S. J. Bograd, J. A. Calder, A. Capotondi, K. O. Coyle, E. Di Lorenzo, B. P. Finney, E. J. Gregr, C. E. Grosch, S. R. Hare, G. L. Hunt, J. Jahncke, N. B. Kachel, H.-J. Kim, C. Ladd, N. J. Mantua, C. Marzban, W. Maslowski, R. Mendelssohn, D. J. Neilson, S. R. Okkonen, J. E. Overland, K. L. Reedy-Maschner, T. C. Royer, F. B. Schwing, J. X. L. Wang and A. J. Winship. 2007 Bottom-up forcing and the decline of Steller sea lions (Eumetopias jubatus) in Alaska: Assessing the ocean climate hypothesis. Fisheries Oceanography 16: 46-67.

http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.552.2934&rep=rep1&type=pdf

- Turnagain Marine Construction (Turnagain). 2018. Monthly Marine Mammal Monitoring Reports from monitoring at Biorka Island in June, July, and August during construction of the Federal Aviation Administration's Biorka Dock Replacement Project. Logs submitted to National Marine Fisheries Service by Turnagain Marine Construction.
- Turnagain. 2017. Marine Mammal Monitoring Forms from monitoring of Silver Bay in October and November 2017 during construction of the City and Borough of Sitka's Gary Paxton Industrial Park (GPIP) Dock. Logs submitted to National Marine Fisheries Service by Turnagain Marine Construction.
- United States Army Corps of Engineers (USACE). 2012. Deficiency Correction Evaluation Report and Finding of No Significant Impact with Environmental Assessment: Navigation Improvements Channel Rock Breakwaters Sitka Harbor, Alaska. Accessed 5/13/2020 from https://www.poa.usace.army.mil/Portals/34/docs/civilworks/currentproj/Sitka%20DCER% 2021%20March%202012.pdf

USACE. 2011. Finding of No Significant Impact and Environmental Assessment. Accessed 5/13/2020 from

https://www.poa.usace.army.mil/Portals/34/docs/civilworks/currentproj/Sitka%20EA_ver %2010%20Mar%2011.pdf.

- United States Environmental Protection Agency (EPA). 2001. Fact Sheet for Permit no: AK-002147-4; City of Sitka's Wastewater Treatment Plan, Proposed Reissuance GRIP of a National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System (NPDES) Permit to Discharge Pollutants Pursuant to the Provisions of The Clean Water Act (CWA). Accessed 6/4/2020 from https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2017-09/documents/r10-npdes-sitka-wwtfak0021474-final-permit.pdf.
- United States Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). USFWS. 2019. Information for Planning and Consultation (IPaC). Accessed October 2019 from

https://ecos.fws.gov/ipac/location/I4SEAZXVJZCE3BCIGFQBBFBEZI/resources.

- United States Navy. 2015. Proxy source sound levels and potential bubble curtain attenuation for acoustic modeling of nearshore marine pile driving at Navy installations in Puget Sound. Prepared by Michael Slater, Naval Surface Warfare Center, Carderock Division, and Sharon Rainsberry, Naval Facilities Engineering Command Northwest.
- Vanderlaan, A. and C. Taggart. 2007. Vessel collisions with whales: The probability of lethal injury based on vessel speed. Marine Mammal Science 23(1): 144-156.
- Wade, P.R., T. Quinn II, J. Barlow, C. Baker, A. Burdin, J. Calambokidis, P. Clapham, E. Falcone, J. Ford, C. Gabriele, R. Leduc, D. Mattila, L. Rojas-Bracho, J. Straley, B. Taylor, R. Urbán, D. Weller, B. Witteveen, and M. Yamaguchi. 2016. Estimates of abundance and migratory destination for North Pacific humpback whales in both summer feeding areas and winter mating and calving areas. Paper SC/66b/IA21 submitted to the Scientific Committee of the International Whaling Commission, June 2016, Bled, Slovenia.
- Wartzok, D. and D.R. Ketten. 1999. Marine mammal sensory systems, pp. 117-175. In: J.E. Reynolds, II and S.A. Rommel (eds.), Biology of marine mammals. Smithsonian Institute Press: Washington D.C.
- Windward Project Solutions (Windward). 2017. Marine Mammal Monitoring Forms from monitoring of Sitka Channel and Middle Channel in January 2017 during replacement of Petro Marine's South Sitka Channel Fuel Dock. Report submitted to National Marine Fisheries Service on November 7, 2017.
- Winn, H., and N. Reichley. 1985. Humpback whale Megaptera novaeangliae (Borowski, 1781). Handbook of marine mammals 3:241-273.
- Winship, A. Trites, D. Calkins. 2001. Growth in Body Size of the Steller sea lion (Eumetopias jubatus). Journal of Mammalogy 82(2):500-519.
- Zimmerman, T and S. Karpovich. 2008. Humpback Whale. Alaska Department of Fish and Game Fact Sheet. Accessed 6/4/2020+

https://www.adfg.alaska.gov/static/education/wns/humpback_whale.pdf.